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PUBLIC POLICY 
OBJECTIVES

In line with international best practice, the Deposit 
Protection Corporation (DPC) aims at meeting a 
number of objectives which include the following:

• Protecting depositors by providing an orderly 
means of compensation in the event of failure 
of a member institution.

• Contributing towards the stability and public 
confidence in the country’s financial system.

• Enhancing competition between different 
sectors and institutions in Zimbabwe’s 
financial system.

• Promoting sound business practices in 
contributory institutions.

• Protecting the Deposit Protection Fund 
against loss.

• Participating in problem bank resolution 
- involves managing and resolving 
failed contributory institutions including 
investigations, judicial management and 
liquidation of failed banks.

VISION 

Protecting depositors to contribute to financial 
system stability by 2021.

MISSION 

To protect deposits, enhance public confidence
and stability in the financial system by :

• promoting sound business practices; and 
• speedy resolution of failed contributory 

institutions.
CORPORATE VALUES

• Accountability
• Fairness
• Teaming
• Integrity
• Excellence
• Transparency

CPD
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MESSAGE FROM THE 
CHAIRPERSON

Dr. J. Chipika

It gives me immense pleasure to present the eleventh Annual Report 
and Statement of Accounts of the Deposit Protection Corporation 
(DPC) for the twelve months to 31 December 2016, the highlights of 
which are summarised below. The rest of the report will highlight major 
activities of the Board during the review period.

MAJOR HIGHLIGHTS FOR THE YEAR

2016 2015

US$ US$

Total Income 10 061 384                            9 002 888

Provision for 
protection 
payments

(708 474)                           (1 472 585)                 

Cost to income 
ratio

31% 32%

Surplus for the 
year

6 560 671                           7 313 205 

Total assets 26 572 353                         20 302 952

Accumulated 
Fund 

21 058 729                         14 498 058

The DPC is a statutory body which derives its mandate from 
the Deposit Protection Corporation Act [Chapter 24:29] enacted 
in March 2012. The Corporation was until the enactment of 
the new Act previously known as the Deposit Protection Board 
(DPB) and started operations on 1 July 2003. It was previously 
governed by Section XII of the Banking Act [Chapter 24:20] as 
well as the Banking (Deposit Protection) Regulations Statutory 
Instrument 29 of 2003.  Its main purpose is to build depositor 
confidence and foster stability in the country’s banking industry, 
a function which complements efforts by the Reserve Bank of 
Zimbabwe and the Ministry of Finance.

During the year under review, the cash situation in the country 
remained dire and there were slight improvements following the 
introduction of bond notes in the last quarter of 2016. There 
was a resurgence in the use of plastic money and electronic 
transfers in response to the cash shortages and reduction in 
bank charges.

The non-performing loans (NPL) ratio to total loans in the 
banking sector remained high at 12.2% at year end against 
the Reserve Bank threshold of 5%. This was due to persistent 
macro-economic environment challenges. The NPL ratio was 
an improvement from 2015 and was attributable to the disposal 
of eligible NPLs to the Zimbabwe Asset Management Company 
(ZAMCO).

The Corporation was appointed liquidator of six failed banks 
which are all now in final liquidation whilst one bank is in 
provisional judicial management. To date, 11,605 out of 
54,909 depositors (21%) have been paid from the Deposit 
Protection Fund, whilst in monetary terms about $3.2 million 
(50%) has been paid against an exposure of $6.4 million. As 
at 31 December 2016, about $4.6 million had been paid out as 
dividends to creditors of banks under liquidation. The average 
estimated dividend to concurrent creditors is about 15%. Total 
liabilities of banking institutions under liquidation are $284 
million against total assets of $93.4 million. 

During the year, the cover level was increased from $500 per 
depositor per bank to $1 000 (effective 1 June 2016, appliable 
for new bank failures only) and this resulted in an increase in 
provision of protection payments of $708,474 against distressed 
contributory institutions.

I wish to express on behalf of the Board deep regret over the 
passing of Dr. Stanley Mahlahla who was the Acting Chairman 
of the Board. Dr Mahlahla was the founding Board member of 
the Corporation since its inception in 2003. Dr C. Dhliwayo and 
Mr C. Nyakabau retired during the year after the expiration of 
their tenure and I wish to thank them for their sterling efforts as 
Board members. I was appointed during the year as Chairperson 
and other Directors appointed were Mrs J. Rusike, Mr A. Moyo 
and Mr S. Masasi.
 
Finally, let me take this opportunity to commend the Board of 
Directors, management and staff of the DPC for their loyalty 
and dedication to duty without which the achievements recorded 
during the period under review would not have been possible. 
I wish them success in their endeavours to meet their goals 
during the coming year.

Dr. J. Chipika – CHAIRPERSON
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which is separate from the fund for banking institutions that has been in 
existence. The creation of a separate fund for DTMFIs takes cognisance 
of the different features and risk profiles between conventional banking 
institutions and DTMFIs, amongst which are low levels of regulatory 
capital requirements, that is $5 million, robustness of risk identification 
and management systems in place, nature of permissible activities and 
services they can offer and the different prudential and supervisory 
requirements.

Notwithstanding isolated cases of challenges in the banking sector 
during the review period, the sector scored a number of positives 
including: the establishment of the credit reference bureau as highlighted 
above, decline in bank charges and service fees, improvement in 
profitability and continued benefit from the Afreximbank Trade Debt-
backed Securities. Total banking sector deposits increased from $5.6 
billion as at December 2015 to $6.4 billion as at 31 December 2016.
Internationally, the DPC attended various events organised by the 
International Association of Deposit Insurers (IADI) such as the 
Executive Council, Technical Committee Meetings and International 
Conferences which are attended by all deposit insurers as they feature 
presentations and panel discussions by top policymakers, standard-
setting bodies, deposit insurers, and prominent academics on pertinent 
issues affecting the global economy, financial stability and deposit 
insurance. Following the global financial crisis, the design features of 
deposit protection systems have been evolving, hence capacitating 
DPC staff became imperative to keep the organization abreast with 
intellectual, market and regulatory developments in deposit insurance. 
The Corporation took a deliberate decision to capacitate its human 
capital in the areas of changes and trends in deposit insurance to 
fully contribute to the public policy objectives which include financial 
stability. These noble initiatives have brought about a positive change 
as there has been a tremendous improvement in the reputation of the 
Corporation, processes are running seamlessly and there has been an 
improvement in efficiency and productivity. As a result, the Corporation 
has won several awards both locally and internationally over the review 
period.

The premium rate remained at 0.20% per annum and deposits eligible 
for premium assessments grew by 19.5% from $4.1 billion as at end 
of December 2015 to $4.9 billion as at 31 December 2016. As a result, 
total assessed premium income increased from $7.8 million in 2015 
to $8.3 million in 2016. The cover level was reviewed from $500 to $1 
000 from July 2016 applicable for new bank failures only. At the end of 
the year, the accumulated surplus stood at $21.0 million compared to 
$14.5 million in 2015.
 
I wish to attribute the success achieved by the DPC during the review 
period to the continued support we received from all stakeholders 
involved notably, Government, the Reserve Bank of Zimbabwe, 
contributory institutions, depositors at large and the International 
Association of Deposit Insurers (IADI).

I also want to thank the DPC staff, management and the Board of 
Directors for a sterling job in keeping the organization on track towards 
the achievement of its public-policy objectives.

John M. Chikura - CEO/MD

MESSAGE FROM THE 
CEO/MD

Mr. J. M. Chikura

The economic challenges that have negatively affected the 
performance of the economy persisted in 2016 and were reflected by 
a decline in foreign direct investments (FDI) from $421 million in 2015 
to $295 million in 2016, worsening physical cash shortages, liquidity 
challenges, high cost regime, deflationary pressures, waning aggregate 
demand, low export receipts and high levels of non-performing loans. 
The performance of the 2015/2016 agricultural season was poor 
largely due to the effects of drought and this also impacted negatively 
on the domestic economy. Furthermore, Government missed its 
revenue target by 4% in 2016 resulting in a budget deficit. The decline 
in government revenue militated against critical government capital 
expenditure and debt payments. On a positive note, Government paid 
about $100 million to the International Monetary Fund (IMF) as part of 
its efforts to reduce external debt.

The Reserve Bank of Zimbabwe (RBZ) introduced bond notes in 
November 2016 as an incentive to exporters. The export incentive 
is backed by a loan facility of $200 million from the African Export-
Import Bank (Afreximbank) and is intended to promote local producers 
to export their goods and services. The country has been battling 
with a widening trade deficit since dollarization. Further to promoting 
exports, the bond notes are expected to curb illicit financial flows such 
as externalization of the United States Dollar. 

During the year under review, the asset quality of the banking sector 
improved as reflected by the non-performing loans to total loans ratio 
(NPL ratio) which declined from 12.3% in December 2015 to 9.5% 
in December 2016. The improvement in the banking sector’s asset 
quality was mainly attributable to the disposal of qualifying non-
performing loans to the Zimbabwe Asset Management Company 
(ZAMCO ), write-offs, intensified collections and improvements in credit 
risk management practices. As at 31 December 2016, ZAMCO had 
purchased non-performing loans worth $812.5 million from the banking 
sector.  The various credit resolution strategies implemented by banks 
assisted them in unlocking capital and improving their profitability 
levels.  As part of efforts to mitigate credit risk in the banking sector, 
RBZ established the Credit Reference Bureau which is expected to 
help banks in identifying multiple and problematic borrowers. All 
banking institutions and microfinance institutions are mandated to 
provide credit information to the databank.

Membership to the Deposit Protection Scheme increased to 25 in 2016 
following the licensing of four Deposit-Taking Microfinance Institutions 
(DTMFIs) and the inclusion of the People’s Own Savings Bank (POSB) 
and the Infrastructure Development Bank of Zimbabwe (IDBZ). In 
terms of Section 35 of the Microfinance Act [Chapter 24:29], all deposit-
taking microfinance institutions automatically become contributory 
institutions. 
In 2016, DPC established a Microfinance Deposit Protection Fund 
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1. Membership and Scope of Coverage
The number of member institutions to the Deposit Protection Fund (DPF) increased from 18 to 25 during the 
year under review. The seven additional members consist of four Deposit-Taking Microfinance Institutions 
(DTMFIs) namely: Getbucks Financial Services Limited, African Century Limited, Lion Microfinance 
Limited and Success Microfinance Bank Limited (formerly Collarhedge Finance Private Limited); one 
building society namely National Building Society; Infrastructure Development Bank of Zimbabwe (IDBZ) 
and the Peoples’ Own Savings Bank (POSB). Four of these institutions namely Lion, Success, POSB and 
IDBZ will start paying premium contributions to the DPF during 2017. Architecture of membership to the 
Deposit Protection Scheme as at the end of 2016 is depicted in Table 1 below:

     Table 1: Membership to DPC Fund as at 31 December 2016

The extension of membership to IBDZ, POSB and Deposit Taking Microfinance Institutions is in line with 
international best practice where membership to the Deposit Insurance Scheme should be compulsory 
for all deposit-taking financial institutions, whether public or private owned.  Compulsory membership for 
all deposit- taking financial institutions is essential for the promotion of public confidence in the financial 
system. Voluntary participation inevitably leads to adverse selection, in that only institutions with high 
likelihood of failure will opt for deposit protection.

2. Deposit Protection Funding
Premiums levied from member institutions remained the main source of funding for the Deposit Protection 
Corporation (hereafter “DPC” or “the Corporation”). Other funding sources included investment income 
and penalties from defaulting member institutions. A flat rate is applied to determine the insurance 
premiums payable by each member institution. The premium rate remained at 0.2% of an institution’s 
annual average deposits, payable quarterly. Total assessed premium income for the year increased by 
12.8% from $7.8 million in 2015 to $8.8 million in 2016. The increase in assessed premium contributions 
mirrored the 19.5% growth in the value of deposits eligible for premium assessment during the year.

3. Deposit Protection
3.1 Cover Level for Banking Institutions
The maximum deposit protection cover or compensation payable to depositors of conventional banking institutions in 
the event of a bank failure was increased from $500 to $1000 per deposit type per contributory institution with effect 
from 1 July 2016 applicable for new bank failures only.  The increased cover level enables the Corporation to fulfil 
its Public Policy Objective of providing full cover to at least 90% of total depositors by number. At the current cover 
level, at least 92.9% (or 1.4 million out of 1.5 million) of the total depositor accounts at member institutions, with a 
total amount of $134.7 million were covered in full as reflected in Table 2 below:

RISK ASSESSMENTS AND SURVEILLANCE

Type of Institution Number 
Commercial Banks 13 
Building Societies 5 
Merchant Banks 1 
Deposit-taking Micro-Finance Institutions 4 
Peoples Own Savings Bank (POSB) 1 
Infrastructure Development Bank of Zimbabwe (IDBZ) 1 
Total 25 
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The total number of deposit accounts at member institutions increased by 10.5% from 1,405,973 to 
1,553,401 during the year. This increase could be a result of depositors’ opening multiple accounts in 
different banks to maximise on cash withdrawals as the cash shortages became acute during the year. 
Contributory institutions also embarked on an aggressive marketing of low cost accounts in response to 
the Central Bank’s thrust to promote the use of electronic payment methods and financial inclusion.

3.2 Microfinance Deposit Protection Fund (MDPF)
During the year under review the Corporation established a separate Microfinance Deposit Protection 
Fund (MDPF), over and above the fund for banking institutions that has been in existence. All licensed 
Deposit-Taking Microfinance Institutions (DTMFIs) will be contributory members. The fund is aimed at 
protecting depositors of DTMFIs in the event of failure of any contributory member. Establishment of the 
MDPF takes cognizance of the distinctive features and risk profiles between banking institutions and 
DTMFIs, amongst which are low levels of regulatory capital requirements i.e. $5 million, robustness of 
risk identification and management systems in place, limited nature of permissible financial activities and 
services they can offer and different prudential and supervisory requirements.

3.3 Premium Assessment for Deposit-Taking Microfinance Institutions (DTMFIs)
A flat rate pegged at 0.2% of a member institution’s annual average deposits is applied to determine 
the insurance premiums payable by each member institution. The premium is payable quarterly. Total 
assessed premium contribution for the year was $6 247.85 for two member institutions (Getbucks and 
African Century) which have commenced taking deposits.

3.4 Deposit Protection Cover for Deposit-Taking Microfinance Institutions (DTMFIs)
As a policy guideline, the Corporation aims to cover in full at least 90% of depositors’ accounts at deposit- 
taking microfinance institutions. Cognisant of the need to strike a balance between providing a confidence 
building cover level and the need to build a MDPF fund, the cover level was initially pegged at $250 per 
deposit type per contributory institution. At this level 76.8% of of depositors’ accounts are covered in full.
The Corporation shall continue to review the maximum deposit protection cover level for DTMFIs from 
time to time to strike a balance between need to comply with the public policy requirements and the 
Corporation’s capacity to compensate depositors from the MDPF fund in the event of a failure of a 
microfinance institution. Deposit protection cover statistics for DTMFIs are reflected in Table 3 below:

December 
2015

% December 
2016

%

Total Number of Deposit Accounts 1 405 973 100% 1 522 121 100%

Total Number of Deposit Accounts Fully Covered. 1 239 515 88.2% 1 443 119 93%
Total Number of Deposit Accounts Partially 
Covered.

166 458 11.8% 109 002 7%

Value of Deposits in Fully Covered Accounts US$51.8million 1.3% US$134.7 million 2.8%
Value of Deposits in Partially Covered Accounts. US$4.0 billion 98.7% US$4.74 billion 97.2%
Total Value of Insured Deposits US$134.8 million 3.3% US$243.2 million 5%
Total Value of Deposits US$4.1 billion 100% US$4.9 billion 100%

Table 2: Deposit Protection Cover for Banking Sector as at 31 December 2016
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4. Deposit Growth
• Total deposits at member institutions eligible for DPC premium assessment increased by 19.5% 

from $4.1 billion in December 2015 to $4.9 billion during the period under review. Compared to the 
growth rate of 2.5% attained in 2015, this was a significant growth. The growth in deposits was partly 
attributable to cash shortages and restrictions on cash withdrawals which kept most deposits in the 
banking system. 

5. Distribution and Average Deposit Sizes
• The bulk of deposits in the banking industry were concentrated in commercial banks as reflected by 

a market share of 81%, a marginal increase from 76.8% recorded in the comparative period in 2015, 
which was again at the expense of the building society sub-sector

December 
2016

%

Total Number of Deposit Accounts 1 280 100%

Total Number of Deposit Accounts Fully Covered. 983 76.8%
Total Number of Deposit Accounts Partially 
Covered.

297 23.2%

Value of Deposits in Fully Covered Accounts US$28 286 0.7%
Value of Deposits in Partially Covered Accounts. US$4.1 million 99.3%
Total Value of Insured Deposits US$102 536 2.4%
Total Value of Deposits US$4.2 million 100%

Table 3: Deposit Protection Cover for DTMFIs as at 31 December 2016

	

Figure 2 shows deposits market share by sub-sector as at 31 December 2016. 
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• The building society sub-sector recorded the lowest average deposit size of $2 913, whilst the 
commercial banking sub-sector recorded an increase in average deposit size from $2 860 to $3 233 
in the period under review mainly due to an increase in the sub-sector’s total deposits. Table 4 below 
shows the distribution of deposits by sector as at 31 December 2016.

Year 2015 2016 
Commercial 

No. of Operating Institutions 13 13 
No. of Accounts 1,094,558 1,217,676 
Total Deposits ($m) 3,130.9 3,936.3 
Average Deposit Size ($) 2,860 3, 233 

Building Societies 
No. of Operating Institutions 4 5 
No. of Accounts 307,653 303,686 
Total Deposits ($m) 887.1 884.6 
Average Deposit Size ($) 2,883 2,913 

 
Merchant 

No. of Operating Institutions 1 1 
No. of Accounts  3,762 3,762 
Total Deposits ($m) 56.6 56.6 
Average Deposit Size ($) 15,052 15,052 

Deposit-Taking MFI 
No. of Operating Institutions - 2 
No. of Accounts  - 1, 280 
Total Deposits ($m) - 4.2 
Average Deposit Size ($) - 3, 263 

Market Aggregate 
No. of Operating Institutions 18 21* 
No. of Accounts  1,405,973 1,553,401 
Total Deposits ($m) 4,075 4,882 
Average Deposit Size ($) 2,898 3,143 

 
     * Two DTMFIs, IDBZ and POSB will start submitting financial returns and paying premiums in 2017.

6. Deposit Composition
Demand deposits remained dominant at $3.1 billion, representing 64.5% of the total deposit base. Time 
and Savings deposits accounted for 24.6% and 7.3% of the total deposits respectively during the year 
under review, a decline of 11 and 1 percentage points respectively from the previous year. The decline 
in time deposits was due to the low interest regime which existed throughout the year as well as market 
apprehension towards the introduction of bond notes.  Figure 3 below illustrates the composition of 
deposits at member institutions as at 31 December 2016:  

 

64.5%	

7.3%	

24.6%	

1.8%	

1.1%	
0.8%	

December	2016	

Demand	deposits	
Savings	deposits	
Time	deposits	
NCDs	
Bas	
Other	deposits	

Table 4: Distribution and Average Size of Deposits by Sector as at 31 December 2016
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7. Other Developments
On 31 August 2016, the Corporation hosted a workshop for deposit-taking microfinance institutions. The workshop 
was aimed at explaining the concept and general operations of the deposit protection scheme to the newly licensed 
institutions. All the four licensed deposit-taking microfinance institutions were in attendance. Presenters were drawn 
from the Corporation where legal and policy issues governing the operations of deposit protection scheme were 
explained, while all DTMFIs made presentations on their operations and challenges.

Participants appreciated the workshop as it provided a networking platform to learn and share ideas. Judging by the 
level of active participation by those who attended, the workshop was a huge success. Major concerns raised by the 
DTMFIs included:
• The different deposit protection cover level of $250 for DTMFIs depositors compared to $1000.00 for other 

banking institutions. 
• The need to apply for an operating license annually for DTMFIs. This was viewed as a major stumbling block to 

securing long-term lines of credit. 
• Presentations were made that DPC should include in the Deposit Protection Scheme mobile network operators 

(MNOs) to level the competitive playing field. The concern was that mobile banking is gaining traction and MNOs 
can operate like banks yet the governing legislation for them is not as restrictive as compared to conventional 
banks and deposit-taking microfinance institutions. 

• DTMFIs also indicated that they were facing challenges in building their brands. They prefer to be called 
microfinance banks to distinguish themselves from credit only microfinance institutions. This they hope will help 
them to mobilize deposits and play their part in the financial inclusion drive. 

On its part, the Corporation is continuously engaging the appropriate authorities to resolve some of these concerns. 
To date, the Minister of Finance and Economic Development has been quoted in the media indicating government’s 
desire to review the annual licensing requirement for DTMFIs.  

BANK RESOLUTION, RECOVERIES & INVESTIGATIONS
Since inception of the DPC, failure resolution options that the Corporation has utilized include depositor reimbursements, 
liquidations, judicial management and implementation of schemes of arrangement which involves the conversion of 
debt to equity.

In pursuance of its mandate, as at 31 December 2016, the DPC had compensated insured depositors of nine (9) failed 
banking institutions, which were subjected to liquidation. The compensation of depositors of three (3) institutions, that 
is, Century Discount House (CDH), Rapid Discount House (RDH) and Sagit Finance House (SFH) was done during 
the Zimbabwe dollar era from 2004 to 2006 whilst six (6) institutions were closed after dollarization between July 2012 
and December 2015.

During the period under review, the Corporation continued to pay deposit protection compensation to depositors of 
six (6) closed banks whilst liquidation dividends were paid out to creditors of three (3) banks namely Genesis, Interfin 
and Afrasia Banks. One bank, Tetrad Investment Bank is under provisional judicial management and the Corporation 
is working on a scheme of arrangement to turnaround the institution.
It should be noted that payments to depositors take place on two fronts: (a) the Deposit Protection Fund up to the 
prevailing cover level; and (b) the Liquidation Dividends on a pro-rata basis depending on the recoveries.
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Deposit Insurance Payments
One of the key functions of the Corporation is to compensate depositors in the event of insolvency of a contributory 
institution in terms of the Deposit Protection Corporation Act [Chapter: 24:29]. The table below provides a synopsis 
of deposit insurance payments in respect of the failed contributory institutions since 2004:
  
Table: Deposit Insurance Payments: 2 January 2004 - 31 December 2016

As at 31 December 2016, DPC had reimbursed 11,499 depositors of Genesis Bank, Royal Bank, Trust 
Bank, Allied Bank, Interfin Bank and AfrAsia Bank and about $3.2 million in value was paid out to insured 
depositors. Compensation to depositors of these six banks is still in progress. Depositors have been paid 
using bank transfers, cash or through mobile platforms. The mobile platforms have been very popular with 
most of our depositors who reside in remote areas.

• Response Rate
Since DPC’s inception in 2003, 14,981 out of 59,524 affected depositors have benefitted from the Deposit 
Protection Scheme. In other words, 25% of the eligible depositors have lodged their claims with DPC. 
One of the major hindrances in contacting depositors has been the inferior quality of depositor records at 
banks such that the contact details like addresses, phone numbers and e-mails are not up to date. This 
is a major challenge which negatively affects the response rate.

Furthermore, most depositors with small balances are reluctant to submit their claims whilst some 
corporates with balances above the insurable amount would rather wait for the liquidation process than 
submit claims for the maximum insurable amount of US$500 (cover level increased to US$1,000 effective 
1 July 2016 for new bank failures).

 

 

Bank 
Name 

Date  
Closed 

Total Insured 
Deposits 
(Value) 

Insured  
Deposits 
Paid 
(Value) 

% of 
Value 
Paid 

Total # 
of 
Depositors 

# of  
Depositors 
Paid 

% 
Depositors 
Paid 

Balance  
of unpaid 
depositors 

Century 
Discount 
House (CDH) 
 

02.1.04 Z$63,266 Z$33,900 54% 397 178 45%     219 

Rapid 
Discount 
House (RDH) 

26.3.04 Z$182,847 Z$83,287 45% 1,215 472 39%     743 

Sagit Finance 
House (SFH) 

02.3.06 Z$12,2 million Z$11,5 million 94% 3,003 2,832 94%     171 

 
SUB-TOTAL 

 Z$12,5 million Z$11,6 million 92.8% 4,615 3,482 75% 1,133 

         
Royal Bank 27.7.12 US$472,206 US$355,100 75.25% 5,453 3,101 56.87% 2,352 
Genesis 
Bank 

11.6.12 US$ 11,800 US$8,821 75.00%      86      62 72.09%      24 

Trust Bank 6.12.13 US$328,516 US$139,843 42.57% 2,958 397 13.42% 2,561 
Interfin Bank 31.12.14 US$918,814 US$248,838 27.03% 13,021 634 4.87% 12,387 
Allied Bank 08.01.15 US$1,248,307 US$525,669 42.15% 9,228 1,497 16.22% 7,731 
AfrAsia 24.02.15 US$3,439,276 $1,893,073.2 54.99% 24,163 5,808 24.04% 18,355 
SUB-TOTAL  US$6,418,930 US$3,171,595 49.38% 54,909 11,499 20.94% 43,410 
TOTAL 
 

    59,524  14,981  44,543 
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• Payout Turnaround Time
The deposit insurance system should reimburse depositors’ insured funds promptly in order to contribute 
to financial system stability. DPC is now mandated to compensate depositors within 60 days from date of 
a contributory institution’s insolvency in terms of the Banking Amendment Act, 2015. Since its inception, 
DPC has managed to pay compensation to depositors within the timeframe of 60 days from date of 
liquidation of a contributory institution. DPC will strive towards attaining the International Association 
of Deposit Insurer’s target of reimbursing insured depositors within seven (7) days of a contributory 
institution’s closure. To attain this target, it is imperative that DPC has access to depositor records before 
bank failure and authority to require banks to maintain depositor information in a prescribed format.

LIQUIDATION OF CLOSED BANKS
Once the Central Bank revokes a bank’s license, DPC is appointed as Liquidator of the bank in terms of 
section 57 1(b) of the Banking Act [Chapter, 24:20] as read with section 37(3) of the DPC Act [Chapter, 
24:29]. As at 31 December 2016, DPC had paid out $4.6 million in dividends to creditors of Genesis, 
Royal, Interfin and Afrasia Banks. 

In bank liquidations, the dividend paid to creditors ultimately depends on loan recoveries and realisation 
of available assets. DPC is currently Liquidator of six closed banks which are all in final liquidation and 
are at various stages of liquidation. As at 31 December 2016, about $18.7 million had been recovered 
out of assets valued at $93 million. In the current economic environment, debtors are finding it difficult to 
repay their loans for several reasons including liquidity challenges. Disposal of the bank’s assets through 
public auctions has also been adversely affected by illiquid market conditions. Low recoveries will result 
in low dividends to creditors.

The specific status of each banking institution under resolution is as discussed hereunder.
(a) Genesis Investment Bank (In Final Liquidation) - Closed 11 June 2012
As at 31 December 2016, DPC had declared three dividends to Genesis Bank creditors. A first interim 
dividend of $90,909.10 was awarded to preferred creditors in May 2013 and in June 2014, a second 
dividend of $71,546.76 was paid to preferred creditors whilst concurrent creditors got $150,000.00, or 
$0.06 per dollar. The Master of High Court approved the Third Interim Liquidation and Distribution account 
for the Bank on 6 May 2016.  Concurrent or unsecured creditors were paid $70,000.00. 

There are 10 class B shares in Afreximbank valued at $100,000.00 awaiting disposal. After several efforts, 
including liaison with the Reserve Bank of Zimbabwe (RBZ), failed to identify a Zimbabwean buyer for the 
shares, DPC is now engaging Afreximbank directly with a view to acquire shareholding currently held by 
the failed Zimbabwean institutions. 

(b) Royal Bank Limited: (In Final liquidation) - Closed 27 July 2012
As at 31 December 2016, $244,529.00 had been recovered from a loan book of about $1.4 million whilst 
about $1.9 million was realized from the disposal of the bank’s 23 immovable assets. During the review 
period, there was no dividend paid to creditors due to the low rate of recoveries. Only preferred creditors 
were paid a total of $632,715.00 in December 2015.

The sale of five immovable properties for Royal Bank valued at about $756 000 is yet to be concluded and 
it is anticipated that the sales will be concluded during the first half of 2017. 
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The process of prosecuting any parties at fault in terms of section 318 and 319 of the Companies Act 
[Chapter 24:03] is underway following the completion of a forensic investigation.

(c) Trust Bank Corporation (In Final Liquidation): Closed 6 Dec 2013
Trust Bank Corporation (Trust Bank) was closed by the RBZ on 6 December 2013 and the bank was 
subsequently placed into final liquidation on 19 May 2016. The delay was a result of the series of court 
battles, as the bank’s former shareholders were against the liquidation of the bank.

The first meeting of creditors and members of Trust Bank was held on 21 July 2016 for the purposes 
of proof of claims and consideration of the liquidator’s interim report. Claims valued approximately $9 
million were provisionally accepted by the Master of High Court. Debt collection is in progress and as at 
31 December 2016, $3.99 million had been collected from a gross loan book of about $18 million whilst 
$467,928 was realised from the disposal of movable assets.

The draft forensic report on Trust Bank was finalised and forwarded to external legal counsel who are now 
working on the draft application to prosecute the parties at fault. A second meeting of Trust Bank creditors 
is scheduled to be held during the first quarter of 2017.

(d) Interfin Bank (In Final Liquidation): Closed 31 December 2014
The bank had a gross loan book of $167.3 million. Related party loans at $90.6 million constituted 
53% of the total loan book whilst the exposure to politically exposed persons was $18.6 million. As at 
31 December 2016 about $6.53 million had been recovered from the various debtors and disposal of 
movable assets of which $1.3 million is the form of properties.

The bank’s First Interim Liquidation and Distribution Account was approved by the Master of High Court 
on 18 May 2016. Gross receipts were $1,541,677 with liquidation expenses at $690, 175. About $520 
875.15 was paid to preferred creditors namely NSSA, ZIMRA, ZIMDEF and former employees of the bank. 
There was no dividend to concurrent creditors. A second dividend is expected during the first half of 2017.
The bank lost in the matter against Al Shams Global wherein it was challenging the validity of the cession 
of $27 million to Al Shams Global Limited (Al Shams) at a time the bank was in a distressed financial 
condition. An appeal was noted and is awaiting set down date. If the appeal is unsuccessful, all the other 
creditors, including the Ministry of Finance which had a deposit of $18m in the bank stand to get about 5 
cents in a dollar as compared to 19 cents in a dollar if the appeal is successful.

Based on the forensic audit report commissioned during curatorship, and the liquidator’s own investigations, 
the bank instructed an advocate to issue summons against parties at fault.

(e) Allied Bank (In Final Liquidation): Closed 8-Jan-2015
The First Creditors’ meeting of Allied Bank creditors was held on 24 June 2015 whilst the second and 
special meetings were held on 25 February 2016 and 5 May 2016 respectively. The Master of High Court 
provisionally accepted 196 claims valued at $15.7 million.

As at 31 December 2016, $1.1 million had been realized from debt collection, government stock and 
disposal of movable assets. The bank’s loan book of about $3.6 million and loans valued at $2.9 million 
were handed over to the lawyers for collection. 
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The bank’s lawyers have filed papers with the Courts demanding transfer of six immovable properties 
supposedly valued at $16.7 million which were pledged as capital by Trebor & Khays. A pre-trial conference 
was held on 5 October 2016 and both parties agreed that the matter should be referred to trial at a date 
to be advised.

The draft Interim First Liquidation and Distribution Account for Allied bank was finalized and forwarded to 
the Master’s Office for approval in December 2016. 

(f) Afrasia Bank Zimbabwe Limited (In Final Liquidation): Closed 24-Feb-2015
The first and second meetings of AfrAsia bank creditors were held on 31 July 2015 and 18 November 
2015 respectively. A special meeting of creditors for AfrAsia Bank was subsequently held on 18 February 
2016. The Master of High Court provisionally accepted claims valued at $61 million during the three 
meetings. During the review period, the bank paid out two dividends to preferred creditors only.

Dividends from the First Interim Liquidation and Distribution Account were paid in April 2016. About 
$1.35 million was distributed to preferred creditors only, that is, $1 million was paid to Minerva with 
respect to pension fund contribution arrears, $261 070 to NSSA for contribution arrears to the Workmen’s 
Compensation Insurance Fund whilst $87 607 was paid to ZIMDEF.

A Second Liquidation and Distribution Account was approved by the Master of High Court on 19 October 
2016. Gross receipts were $2,918,965 whilst liquidation expenses were $966,323 leaving a balance 
available for distribution to creditors of $1.9 million. The major expenses included forensic investigation 
fees $138,000; employee salaries $155,071; legal fees $98,129; Liquidator fees $93,661; Master’s fees 
$54,296; tax $69,624; estate agent commission $47,724; security costs $30,372; rentals $28,796; and 
$200,000 was with respect to deposit insurance refund. A balance of $50,650 relates to other general 
liquidation expenses. About $1.6 million was awarded to preferred creditors only, being Minerva $352,838; 
NSSA $38,913; ZIMDEF $13,024; Employees $817,604 and ZIMRA $380,000.  A balance of $350,291 was 
carried forward to the Third Liquidation and Distribution Account.

NSSA, a secured creditor was paid $157,320.37 in full and final settlement of their claim following the 
disposal of two mortgaged residential properties for $308,312.50. A surplus of $106,839.90 was transferred 
to the free residue account. There was no dividend to unsecured or concurrent creditors during the review 
period. A third dividend is expected to be paid during 2017.

Based on the findings of a forensic audit report, external legal counsel has since been instructed to issue 
summons against the parties at fault in terms of section 318 and 319 of the Companies Act [Chapter 
24:03].

Disposal of Micro-King (MK) & AfrAsia Capital Management (ACM)
Pursuant to the resolutions passed in the first creditors meeting, DPC concluded the disposal of Micro King 
to a consortium of international investors namely Microcred SAS (Microcred) and AfricInvest Financial 
Sector Fund (AfricInvest) with effect from 23 May 2016 whilst ACM was wholly acquired by investee 
creditors on the 14th of October 2015 following the successful conclusion of a debt to equity swap 
scheme of arrangement.
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(g) Capital Bank (filed for voluntary liquidation)
On 4 June 2014, the RBZ cancelled the registration of Capital Bank as a banking institution following 
Capital Bank’s voluntary surrender of its licence. A petition submitted on the 18th of June 2014 in favour 
of voluntary liquidation was opposed by the minority shareholder and bank’s employees reinforcing the 
need for a separate bank insolvency regime. The Courts are yet to set a date for the hearing.

As at date of closure, the bank’s assets were $25.6 million with liabilities of $49.9 million resulting in a 
net liability position of - $24.3 million.

(h) Judicial Management – Tetrad  Investment  Bank - 29 Jan 2015
Since its inception, DPC was appointed Judicial Manager for one banking institution and efforts to 
resuscitate the institution are detailed hereunder.

At its own instance, Tetrad Investment Bank (Tetrad) was placed under provisional judicial management 
on 29 January 2015 and the return date was initially extended from 7 May 2015 to 6 August 2015, before 
being further extended to 1 October 2015. The DPC was subsequently appointed the Provisional Judicial 
Manager (PJM) of Tetrad with effect from 1 July 2015 following the resignation of the previous Judicial 
Manager, Mr. Winsley Militala of Petwin Executor & Trust Company.

The appointment of DPC was in terms of section 57 of the Banking Act [Chapter 24:20], whilst the 
appointment of the previous judicial manager was in terms of section 300(a) of the Companies Act 
[Chapter 24:03], outside the supervision of the Central Bank.

DPC took over the management of the institution and assumed control over all the assets. As part of 
its mandate upon appointment, DPC produced a report to the Court as required in terms of section 303 
(c) of the Companies Act. As part of the capital raising initiatives, DPC, through the Bank’s board and 
shareholders invited all potential investors who had indicated interest to invest in the bank. Furthermore, 
DPC flighted a tender inviting potential investors to express interest in investing in the bank and as at 31 
December 2016, no investor had come aboard. 

As at 31 December 2016, recoveries were $15.7 million, of which $8.6 million was in the form of properties. 
The High Court has since extended the return date for provisional judicial management indefinitely until 
the scheme of arrangement as authorized by creditors in the second meeting held in September 2015 is 
finalized. The draft outline of the Scheme is now in place, and a special creditors’ meeting is expected to 
take place within the first half of 2017, together with the scheme meetings.
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The table below summarizes the status of banks under resolution as at 31 December 2016.

CHALLENGES IN RECOVERIES
Several reasons for the low recoveries have been identified, key amongst which are: -
• There have been undue delays in bringing finality to the liquidation process due to lawsuits by former 

shareholders, to the detriment of creditors and depositors of closed banks.
• There are loopholes in the current legal framework which makes it difficult to prosecute parties at fault.
• Once a debtor, has been handed over, there are limited loan recovery options that the bank can do 

except wait for the due court process to run its full course.
• Absence of adequate collateral security on most facilities granted to insiders. Where collateral is 

available the realizable value is far below the facility exposure.
• Due to liquidity challenges, the amount realized from asset disposals is usually below the reserve 

values. 
• Lack of a clear and transparent bank resolution framework. 
• Several debtors are under liquidation, judicial management or have abandoned operations.

(a) Regulatory Developments

The Banking Amendment Act, 2015 which came into effect on 13 May 2016, brought changes to the 
current bank resolution framework as well as to the powers of DPC. The main changes were as follows:
• DPC no longer has the powers to independently examine member institutions;
• DPC can no longer be appointed as a curator of a problem bank;
• DPC can no longer issue additional prudential requirements for its member institutions;
• DPC may now pay from the DPF the cost of measures taken by RBZ to prevent the insolvency of 

an institution if the payment is less than the compensation payable to depositors in the event of the 
institution’s insolvency.

• DPC and the RBZ shall consult together on the most appropriate measures to take where it appears 
a contributory institution is financially distressed or is or may become insolvent.

 

 

INSTITUTON STATUS DATE  TOTAL 
ASSETS 

TOTAL 
LIABILITIES 

Net Liability 
Position 

TOTAL 
RECOVERIES  

VALUE OF 
PREFERRED 

CLAIMS 

PAYMENTS TO 
PREFERRED 
CREDITORS 

DIVIDEND PAID 
TO 

CONCURRENT 
CREDITORS 

ESTIMATED 
DIVIDEND TO 

CONCURRENT 
CREDITORS   

GENESIS 
BANK 

In Final 
Liquidation 4-Jul-12 $2.2 m $5.1 m ($3.9 m) $580,492 $170,178 $162,456 $220,000 $0.06 per dollar 

ROYAL BANK In Final 
Liquidation 20-Feb-13 $5.3 m $12.6m ($7.3 m) $2.1 1m $2.1 m $632,715 Nil $0.07 per dollar 

TRUST BANK In Final 
Liquidation 08-Oct-14 $13 m $26.7 m ($13.7m) $4.7m $3.5 m NIL NIL $0.25 per dollar 

INTERFIN 
BANK 

In Final 
Liquidation 28-Jan-15 $24.3 m $144.2 m ($119.9 m) $6.5m $1.5 m $520,875 NIL 

$0.19 per dollar 
or $0.05per dollar 
if Al Shams wins 
case. 

ALLIED BANK In Final 
Liquidation 4-Feb-15 $9.5 m $34.5 m ($24.9 m) $1.1m $2.4 m $142,497 NIL $0.06 per dollar 

AfrAsia Bank In Final 
Liquidation 18-Mar-15 $39.1 m $61 m ($21.09 m) $3.7 m $3.9 m $2.95 m NIL $0.40 -$0.50 per 

dollar 

Tetrad  
In Provisional 
Judicial 
Management 

29-Jan-15 $46 m $66.3 m ($20.3 m) $15.7 m $0.8 m N/A N/A $0.21 per dollar 

Totals   $139.4 m $350.1 m ($211.09) $34.4 m $17.94 m $4.4 m $220,000  
 

Status of Banks under Resolution as at 31 December 2016
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(b) Special Resolution Regime
The Banking Amendment Act, 2015, still falls short in terms of creating a special resolution regime as the 
winding up of banking institutions is still governed by provisions of the Companies Act [Chapter 24:03] 
and the Insolvency Act [Chapter 6:04]. DPC will continue to advocate for an effective failure resolution 
regime that enables the deposit insurer to provide protection to depositors and contribute to financial 
system stability. 

The Financial Stability Board’s Key Attributes of Effective Resolution Regimes (2014) recommends 
that the legal framework should lead to the establishment of a separate insolvency regime for banking 
institutions. This should provide regulatory authorities with sufficient powers and tools to effect resolution 
while supporting the maintenance of financial stability. The Special Resolution Regime should also include 
special insolvency laws that provide for finality and speed in winding up of all or parts of a banking 
institution’s business in a manner that protects insured and uninsured depositors.

(c) Demonetisation of Zimbabwe Dollars for Banks under Liquidation
In the Monetary Policy Statement of January 2015, the Governor of the RBZ announced that all Zimbabwe 
dollar account balances and notes in circulation will be demonetized. In pursuance of the Government of 
Zimbabwe’s demonetization exercise, DPC paid demonetization proceeds to qualifying Zimbabwe dollar 
account holders for banks under liquidation namely Allied Bank, Interfin Bank and AfrAsia Bank from 1 
December 2015 to 30 April 2016.

In terms of the demonetization guidelines, (Statutory Instrument 70 of 2015) any person who was a holder 
of a Zimbabwe dollar denominated account as at 31 December 2008 was eligible for compensation. A 
total of US$784,471.00 was availed by RBZ for the demonetization exercise for banks under liquidation 
and $12,490.92 was paid out to depositors. The balance was returned to Reserve Bank of Zimbabwe. The 
lukewarm response to the demonetization exercise was mainly attributed to the low payouts of $5 which 
were being paid out to most depositors.
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LEGAL & CORPORATE AFFAIRS
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The Corporation is committed to the establishment, monitoring and practice of high corporate governance 
standards in its operations. To protect stakeholder interests at all times, the Corporation has systems, 
procedures and practices that foster a culture that values ethical behaviour, integrity, transparency, 
accountability, fairness and excellence. The Corporation subscribes to principles of International Best 
Practice as guided by, inter alia, the IADI Core Principles for Effective Deposit Insurance Systems (Core 
Principles) and the National Code on Corporate Governance Zimbabwe.

The Board of Directors is committed to the creation and sustenance of shareholder value and ensuring 
that the Corporation’s conduct in all areas is beyond reproach.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

FINANCE & AUDIT 
COMMITTEE

HUMAN RESOURCES 
COMMITTEE

GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Section 6(1) of the Deposit Protection Corporation Act (Chapter 24:29) (the Act) provides that the operations of the 
Corporation shall be controlled by a Board of Directors consisting of-
(a) One (1) director to represent the Ministry of Finance
(b) One (1) director to represent the Reserve Bank
(c) Four (4) directors to represent contributory institutions, and
(d) The Chief Executive Officer

The Board is led by an independent non-executive Chairman, thereby ensuring effective and constructive 
checks and balances between the executive management and the Board. The role of the Chairman is to 
manage the Board effectively, to provide leadership to the Board and to facilitate the Board’s interface 
with management.

During the year under review, the Corporation lost the Acting Board Chairman, Dr. Stanley Mahlahla who 
passed away on the 29th of June 2016 after a long illness. The other two (2) directors` office terms also 
expired on the 1st of May 2016 and 1st of June 2016 respectively. In terms of paragraph 7 (2) of the First 
Schedule of the Act, Directors whose term of office has lapsed can continue in office only for a period of 
six (6) months.

The Minister of Finance is empowered in terms of section 6(2) of the Act to appoint new directors in 
accordance with the Act. On the 10th of November 2016, the Minister appointed new directors to the 
board for a three-year term of office effective 1 November 2016. The newly appointed directors are:
Two other board appointments are still outstanding for the composition of the Board to fully comply with section 6(1) 
of the Act. 
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Orientation of New Directors
In terms of the DPC Board Charter, The Corporation is required to arrange orientation and education programs for 
new members of the Board. A new director is required to be provided with a range of written materials including those 
which outline the organization of the Board and its Committees, the powers and duties of directors, the required 
standards of performance for directors and the Charter. The newly appointed Board members have since attended 
a training and induction workshop where they were trained on the operations of DPC, the legal framework governing 
the operations of the Corporation, and Corporate Governance.

BOARD COMMIITTEES
The Board has delegated some of its duties and responsibilities to sub-committees to ensure the efficient 
discharge of the Board’s mandate. The ultimate responsibility of running the Corporation however remains 
with the Board. The sub-committees, namely the Finance and Audit Committee and the Human Resources 
Committee aid the Board and its directors in giving detailed attention to specific areas of the directors’ 
duties and responsibilities.

The terms of reference of each committee are approved by the Board and reviewed as necessary. All 
committees are chaired by independent non-executive directors. The committees meet quarterly or as the 
need arises. The Board receives minutes of the committees and the committee chairpersons updates the 
full Board on agenda items covered and the resolutions made by their respective committees.

ANALYSIS OF THE BOARD AND COMMITTEES ATTENDANCE REGISTERS
The Board met three (3) times during the accounting year. The following is the Board meetings’ attendance 
register for 2016:

NAME OF DIRECTOR MEETINGS HELD MEETINGS ATTENDED
Dr S Mahlahla
(passed away 29 June 2016) 
(former Acting Chairman0

2 1

Dr C Dhliwayo
(tem expired 1 November 2016)

2 2

Mr C Nyakabau
(tem expired 1 November 2016)

2 2

Mr J Chikura 2 2
Mrs V. Nyemba 2 2

NAME OF BOARD MEMBER  DATE OF APPOINTMENT
Dr Jesimen Chipikia  (Chaiperson) 1 November 2016
Mr Agmos Moyo 1 November 2016
Mrs Judith Jila Rusike 1 November 2016

Mrs Vimbai Nyemba 1 October 2014
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REGULATORY ENVIRONMENT
The legal framework governing the operations of the Corporation consists of the Deposit Protection Act 
(Chapter 24:29); Deposit Protection Corporation Regulations, Statutory Instrument 156 of 2013; Banking 
Act (Chapter 24:20); Public Finance Management Act (Chapter 22:19); Companies Act (Chapter 24:03); 
Insolvency Act (Chapter 6:04) and the Labour Act (Chapter 28:01).

In the year 2016, the Banking Amendment Act, 2015 was gazetted on the 13th of May 2016 which is the 
effective date that it became law. The Act amended the Banking Act (Chapter 24:20), the Reserve Bank of 
Zimbabwe Act (Chapter 22:15), the Deposit Protection Corporation Act (Chapter 24:29) and the Reserve 
Bank of Zimbabwe Amendment Act (No. 1 of 2010). It also repealed the Troubled Financial Institutions 
(Resolution) Act (Chapter 24:28). The highlights of the amendments are outlined hereunder:

(a) Co-operation and consultations between RBZ and DPC
The amendment repealed some clauses which required co-operation or consultations between DPC and 
RBZ. The repealed clauses were: section 24 (5) which empowered DPC to express views on amalgamations 
and transfers; section 48 proviso which required consultation before a bank is put under curatorship or 
judicial management and section 47 (4) which required co-operation in examinations. The clause has 
been replaced with a requirement for RBZ to send a copy of their report to DPC immediately after an 
examination. This obligation is mandatory.
Other clauses which require co-operation and consultations with RBZ were enhanced by placing an 
additional obligation on RBZ to notify or inform the Corporation of action taken by RBZ or the Registrar.

(b) Action against parties at fault
The Amendment introduced a new section 20A which deals with the conduct of directors and principal 
officers of banks and controlling companies. It provides for specific duties of directors, that is, fiduciary 
duties, duty of care and skill and duty to act bona fide for the benefit of depositors and shareholders among 
others. Section 5 of the Amendment provides for the trigger mechanisms wherein action against directors 
of a banking institution or controlling company may be taken. It provides that in addition to the provisions 
of section 318 of the Companies Act (Chapter 24:03), where a banking institution or controlling company 

FINANCE AND AUDIT COMMITTEE

NAME OF DIRECTOR MEETINGS HELD MEETINGS ATTENDED
Mr C Nyakabau
(term expired 1 November 2016)

2 2

Dr C Dhliwayo
(term expired 1 November 2016)

2 2

NAME OF DIRECTOR MEETINGS HELD MEETINGS ATTENDED
Dr S Mahlahla (deceased) 2 1
Mrs V. Nyemba 2 2
Dr C Dhliwayo
(term expired 1 November 2016)

2 2

HUMAN RESOURCES COMMITTEE
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has been placed under curatorship, judicial management or is being wound up, and it is established that 
the business of the Company has been carried on without regards to prudential norms and standards and 
other requirements provided for in terms of the Act, or to good corporate governance, then such directors 
shall be jointly and severally liable to the institution or the Company for any loss suffered by creditors 
and depositors.
The section imported section 318 of the Companies Act and placed an additional burden of what must be 
proved for the directors to be held liable, that is, the business of the company has been carried on without 
regards to prudential norms and standards and other requirements provided for in the Act, or to good 
corporate governance. Action against parties at fault will be instituted by DPC and the Registrar jointly in 
accordance to section 20A (6).

(c) Bank Resolutions
The powers to formulate a resolution plan have been given to RBZ under section 52A. However, under 
a new section 36(1) of the DPC Act, where it appears to the RBZ or the Corporation that a contributory 
institution is financially distressed or may become insolvent, RBZ and the Corporation shall consult 
together on the most appropriate measures to take regarding the institution.
The amendment provides for a wide variety of resolution tools like mergers, acquisitions, establishment of 
bridge banks, taking control of the problem banking institution by a curator with powers to establish and 
institute a timely resolution plan, winding up the problem bank and taking any action necessary to give 
effect to the plan of resolution, including sale or closure of branches, agency or other office of the problem 
banking institution or dismissal of employees. 

The Amendment provides under section 52B, that any resolution plan chosen by the RBZ must be 
confirmed by the courts by an application made by RBZ to a judge in chambers on less than 14 days 
written notice. Chamber applications, by their nature take a shorter time than court applications which 
were being used before the amendment.
Where an appeal is noted against the decision of the High Court, it should be heard and judgement 
should be delivered by the Supreme Court within 30 days. The RBZ may however execute the resolution 
plan pending the appeal unless the court is satisfied that the decision was made corruptly or in bad faith. 
Courts may now award damages for decisions suffered because of the decision by the RBZ. Where the 
court confirms a resolution plan, it is no longer necessary to issue a separate application for liquidation.

(d) Curatorship
The amendment has new provisions on curatorship under section 52C. The amendment provides that 
where a bank is put in curatorship, RBZ may consult DPC after 90 days on whether to restructure, 
reorganize or wind up the bank.

(e) Winding up of banks
On winding up of banks, RBZ can now order for the winding up of a bank (section 57(1)) without necessarily 
filing an application to the Courts. Any director, shareholder, depositor or creditor who objects to the order 
of the RBZ may apply to the High Court. The High Court may not reverse or set aside the order of the RBZ 
to wind up the institution without the consent of the RBZ unless the court is satisfied that the decision 
was made corruptly or in bad faith. The High Court may award fair and adequate compensation to any 
person who has suffered loss because of the decision. Section 57 (2) provides that no person can apply 
for a winding up of the bank without RBZ’s consent. Similarly, no bank may pass a resolution for voluntary 
winding up without RBZ consent.  
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Under section 57 (7), DPC is the liquidator of banks and its appointment as such is mandatory for the 
RBZ. Since the RBZ does not need to apply to the courts before placing a bank in liquidation, this also 
means DPC’s appointment is no longer subject to confirmation by the courts. 

Amendments to the DPC Act
a) Definitions of examiner and prudential requirements under section 2 were repealed.
b) Section 26 which deals with issuing prudential requirements was repealed.
c) Compensation payable to depositors should be made within 60 days after the contributory institution 
became insolvent.
d) Section 36 of the DPC Act has been repealed and replaced with a new section 36 which requires 
the RBZ to consult DPC where it appears that a contributory institution is financially distressed or may 
become financially distressed. DPC may pay from the Fund all or part of the cost of measures taken by 
RBZ under any law to prevent insolvency of a contributory institution if it appears to the Corporation that 
costs will be less than the compensation payable to depositors in the event of insolvency.
e) The provision for DPC to be appointed as a curator was removed.
f) Powers to conduct bank examinations were removed.

STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE
Based on the information set out in the Legal and Corporate Affairs report, the Corporation complied with 
the requisite legislative and corporate governance requirements throughout the accounting period.
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INTERNAL AUDIT & CONTROLS
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In 2016, the Audit Committee considered internal audit reports issued by the Internal Audit Department 
which covered internal control systems, policies and procedures, practices, plans, risk management 
and compliance with legal, statutory and regulatory requirements. 

The Key Areas of the Board Audit Committee in 2016 were:
1. Reviewed Internal Audit reports concerning the observations and advice in respect of the controls, 

systems and processes;
2. Obtained an understanding of the financial reports and monitored financial information for accuracy, 

reliability as well as clarity (including its financial statements and the external auditors’ report);
3. Considered the information provided in the Annual Report and Strategic Plan;
4. Reviewed and provided advice to the Board with respect to the annual financial statements, 

management’s discussion and analysis and external audit report;
5. Reviewed the integrity of the financial reporting process and internal control reports as well as 

management representations; 
6. Fulfilled its responsibilities regarding financial management oversight, including management of 

annual budgets and investments;
7. Considered and recommended the Strategic Plan (2016 – 2018) that included the operating budget, 

financial projections and capital budget;
8. Provided advice and support to the Board in respect of the matters relating to risks and internal 

controls; 
9. Reviewed the utilization of resources as compared to the budgets to provide strategic and 

management oversight; and
10. Reviewed the update and progress of Management’s overall performance against initiatives set out 

in the Strategic Plan as well as Management’s assessments of internal and external factors that 
may impact the performance of the Strategic Plan. 

The Board Audit Committee noted the issues raised in audit reports and the management action to 
improve the systems of internal control. There were no major reported incidences or weaknesses or 
deficiencies in the adequacy and integrity of Internal Controls embedded in the Deposit Protection 
Corporation’s systems, policies, practices and processes for the period to 31st December 2016.

The DPC Board strives to ensure that Management continuously takes pro-active measures to:

1. Create a conducive corporate culture and environment that emphasizes accountability for control 
and risk management;

2. Identify, assess and address the various risks that could hinder the achievement of the Corporation’s 
objectives; and

3. Review and monitor the entire system of internal control and address issues or problems adequately 
on a timely basis.
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To protect depositors and contribute to financial stability, it was essential that the public be informed 
on an ongoing basis about the benefits and limitations of the deposit insurance system. To achieve 
these objectives, the Deposit Protection Corporation (DPC) utilized a comprehensive public awareness 
program crafted in line with the corporate strategic plan and international best practice as recommended 
by the International Association of Deposit Insurers (IADI) – a standard-setting body for deposit insurers 
throughout the world.

The Corporation undertook various initiatives and utilized multiple communication platforms to reach 
out to the public in both rural and urban areas. Advertising and exhibitions, however, remained our key 
communication tools for effectively reaching out to the masses and directly contributing to the awareness 
of DPC and the Scheme. 

a) ADVERTISING AND PUBLICITY
The Corporation’s advertising campaigns centered mostly on raising public awareness and deepening 
understanding of the Scheme. The key messages were on the available cover limits, membership, accounts 
covered or excluded, reimbursement procedures for closed banks and promoting the Corporation’s 
mandate and contact platforms. The advertisements featured consistent images across the media 
platforms to maintain consistency and high recall from the target audiences. 

The Corporation sponsored informative articles in regional and national newspapers and magazines 
deepening the awareness of the Scheme’s operations. Positive articles and reviews were also received 
from the print media fraternity on the Corporation’s mandate and reimbursement efforts to affected 
depositors of closed banks. The Corporation’s CEO/MD Mr. John M. Chikura granted interviews to major 
radio stations articulating the Corporation’s mandate and activities. A series of advertisements in the 
three main languages namely English, Shona and Ndebele were run on national radio and television for 
greater geographical coverage. Plans are underway to translate advertisements into minority languages 
and cater for those with visual and hearing impairments.

b) EVENTS MARKETING (Exhibitions and Roadshows)
The Corporation continued to make a presence in regional and national events such as exhibitions, 
shows, trade fairs, expos, public lectures, workshops, charity golf tournaments and public meetings. 

Outreach programs targeted at depositors in both rural and urban areas provided a platform to connect 
the Corporation with the masses. Deliberate efforts were made to make a presence in each of the 
country’s ten regions through participating in exhibitions and related events where the Corporation raised 
brand visibility through branded stand displays, distribution of informational pamphlets, presentations and 
sponsorship opportunities which helped to increase the Corporation’s brand visibility, financial awareness 
and literacy among the various target audiences. 

Regional agricultural expos in the country’s ten provinces provided the Corporation with greater access 
to the public who otherwise would not be reached through mass media channels such as newspapers 
and television due to limited coverage and access costs. Expos for business enterprises enabled the 
Corporation to reach out to business owners and raise awareness on the existence and operations of the 
Deposit Protection Scheme.
Public lectures were delivered to students and academic staff at national universities such as the 
University of Zimbabwe and National University of Science and Technology among others. Media briefings 
and workshops for staff members from member institutions were also conducted to raise awareness of 
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the Scheme to our key stakeholders who in turn helped in the dissemination of timely and accurate 
information on the existence and operations of the protection scheme. Increased public awareness on 
the Scheme helped to foster depositor confidence in the financial system. 

Publicity through events proved to be a key connector between the Corporation and various stakeholders in 
both rural and urban areas as part of the Corporation’s efforts to deepen the knowledge and understanding 
on the existence of the free protection scheme. More of such initiatives will be implemented in 2017.

c) DIGITAL MARKETING
High mobile and internet penetration rates in Zimbabwe enabled the Corporation to leverage on digital 
marketing technologies to reach the public with its key messages. The Corporation maintained a fully 
functional website which was a key component in the dissemination of timely and accurate information 
to the public for latest news, detailed Scheme information, downloads and submission of enquiries and 
claim forms. The responsive website was optimized for high search rankings in popular search engines 
such as Google.

Popular social media platforms such as Facebook, Twitter, YouTube and WhatsApp enabled the Corporation 
to create and disseminate content for free and amplify brand visibility to technologically-savvy audiences 
such as professionals, students and academics among others. Our social media platforms grew in terms of 
engagement and utilization due to the increasing level of public awareness of the Corporation’s mandate 
and activities.

Communication through websites, online banner adverts, blogs, online directories, email marketing and 
bulk SMS marketing provided the Corporation with low cost, high impact advertising opportunities to 
raise brand visibility and informational awareness. The ability of digital marketing platforms to provide 
campaign analytics proved useful in evaluating campaign effectiveness.

d) CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY
Social responsibility is a value shared by all DPC employees. Emphasis on environmental conservation 
and education has been the focus of our Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) efforts.

• Environmental Conservation
Staff members from the Corporation participated in the annual tree planting and awareness walkathon 
in partnership with Friends of the Environment (FOTE) – a non-profit organisation of environmentally 
like-minded individuals and corporate entities championing the re-greening of Zimbabwe through tree 
planting. FOTE works together with the Ministry of Environment, Water and Climate, Forestry Commission 
and Environmental Management Agency (EMA).

The walkathon from Gweru to Zvishavane (over 142 kilometers over a period of four days) involved 
raising environmental awareness on the importance of tree planting and environmental conservation. 

Over 150 walkers from different sectors of the economy participated in the walkathon. FOTE’s vision is to 
plant at least 500 million trees by 2026. To achieve this objective, FOTE conducts annual walkathons as 
part of raising public awareness on the importance of planting trees, conducts tree planting together with 
communities along the journey and ensures a new nursery is unveiled at the end of each walkathon. The 
nurseries will serve as the hub for providing tree seedlings for the communities in the region. To date, 
over 10 nurseries have been availed throughout the country.
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 Objectives of FOTE:
• To plant a minimum of 500 million trees by 2026.
• To establish at least 100 nurseries across the country.
• To raise environmental awareness through annual walkathon campaigns.
• To plant trees across the country with different communities.
• To encourage communities to plant and conserve trees.
• To create employment through nursery projects.
• To create woodlots from which communities can derive benefits.

Background to the drive:
• Widespread deforestation has turned out to be the chief global ecological tragedy of modern times.
• Forests are depleting much faster than nature can replenish on its own.
• It is estimated that 330, 000 hectares of trees are destroyed annually in Zimbabwe (1ha = 1,600 

trees). At this rate, it is estimated that Zimbabwean forests will be completely wiped out in 52 years 
(Forestry Commission, 2012).

• Deforestation is said to be affecting the SADC region, African continent and the entire world.

• Internship Opportunities 
The Corporation remained committed to providing students from local Universities with internship 
opportunities for practical experience in the workplace. The internship program greatly contributed in 
developing human capital for the financial services sector and nation at large through the creation of a 
talent pool. 

e) STAKEHOLDER RELATIONS & PARTNERSHIPS
Well-informed stakeholders are integral to the effectiveness of the Deposit Protection Scheme. The 
Corporation continued to engage, consult, collaborate and strengthen relationships with its key 
stakeholders such as media houses, member institutions and other safety-net players (regulators) and 
agencies.

• Media Relations
The Corporation’s open media policy, responsiveness to media enquiries and cordial media relations 
existing with media houses greatly helped in the dissemination of positive and accurate information to 
the public. The Corporation values media practitioners as an important stakeholder and is committed to 
maintaining good working relationships with local and international media partners. This is done through 
ongoing media workshops, briefings, updates, formal and informal meetings to strengthen the existing 
relationships.

• Member Institutions
Membership to the Scheme included all deposit-taking institutions namely commercial banks, building 
societies, merchant banks, finance houses and deposit-taking microfinance institutions. The Corporation 
enjoyed cordial relations with its members and associations. 

Member institutions were in full compliance of the law in publicizing membership to the Scheme in all 
advertisements such as print, radio, television, online and outdoor. Members also complied with the 
display of membership certificates, posters, brochures and membership stickers in all banking halls. 
Compliance to the regulatory requirements greatly contributed in the increased awareness levels of the 
Scheme.
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• ZIMPOST Partnership 
Discussions were initiated with the largest postal service provider to partner in the collection and 
distribution of claim forms through its vast network of branches across the country. Success of this 
partnership will be a positive milestone in bringing convenience to depositors of closed banks with easy 
access to claim forms at no cost. Most of the affected depositors reside in rural areas with no access to 
email and scanning facilities and such a convenient facility will be a positive development. The Corporation 
hopes such partnerships will greatly assist in the effective discharge of its mandate to speedily reimburse 
depositors affected by a bank closure. A speedy and efficient payout experience will go a long way in 
fostering depositor confidence in the Deposit Protection Scheme and financial services industry.

f) AWARDS & RECOGNITION
The Corporation received five awards for excellence in good business leadership, corporate
governance, public awareness efforts and contribution to the country’s economy. The awards
enhanced market confidence of our brand on the local and international scene. The following honors
were conferred to DPC in 2016:
1. Institute of Chartered Secretaries & Administrators in Zimbabwe (ICSAZ): Second Position, Best 

Corporate Governance Practices (State Enterprises & Parastatals).
2. Megafest Top 20 Business Award for 2016 (5th position).
3. Zimbabwe Business Awards: Mr. John M. Chikura, Zimbabwe Top CEO of the Year Award.
4. Zimbabwe Business Awards: Deposit Protection Corporation, Company of the Year Award: Banking 

Industry.
5. Zimbabwe Business Awards: Deposit Protection Corporation, Brand of the Year: Banking Industry.

MOVING FORWARD
Going forward, the Corporation will continue implementing its communication strategies and initiatives 
with relevant enhancements based on research findings so as to ensure that our public awareness efforts 
remain effective and meet their key objectives and priorities. 

DPC remains committed to the objective of increasing public awareness of the Deposit Protection Scheme 
in rural and urban areas in order to increase public’s knowledge on the existence and operations of 
the Scheme. An informed public on the existence and operations of the Scheme will go a long way in 
enhancing confidence in the financial system and ultimately fulfilling DPC’s objective of contributing to 
the stability of the financial system for the benefit of the country’s economy and its citizens.
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HUMAN RESOURCES
Industrial Relations:

• Industrial relations remained cordial for the period under review.

• Staff engagement was achieved through departmental meetings and briefings. 

• There were no threats to the work environment despite the socio-economic challenges.  

Integrated Results Based Management System (IRBM)

• IRBM was adopted as a management strategy to focus on performance by achieving outputs and 
outcomes. 

• The system has ensured integration of budget in planning for the attainment of results. 

Staffing

• Administrative vacancies were filled to increase capacity and improve efficiencies in the Finance and 
Administration function. 

• One employee was promoted to the position of Manager - Policy, Research and International Affairs in 
order to ensure development of policy with respect to safe and sound banking through the provision 
of research-based information. 

• To increase visibility of the Corporation in Matabeleland region, one employee was promoted to the 
position of Branch Manager and will be based at the Bulawayo office starting next year.  

Training and Development 

• Training programs attended by staff members enhanced capacity, increased motivation levels and 
created a positive learning environment. 

• Training has ultimately strengthened skills and increased the knowledge base and competency levels 
of staff members. 

• To keep abreast with global trends, six staff members were registered with Financial Stability Institute 
(FSI) through an e-learning platform.

• The Corporation continues to mentor students by offering attachment as part of corporate social 
investment.

STRATEGIC PLANNING 

On an annual basis, the Corporation’s management goes on an annual corporate planning retreat. During 
the last quarter of the year, a five- year plan covering the period from 2017 to 2021 was documented and 
covered strategic goals in areas indicated below:

• Fund growth;

• Public awareness of the deposit protection scheme;

• Increased recovery rates;

• Improvement of staff competency levels;

• Infrastructure capacity increases; and 

• Upgrading of ICT systems and security.T

The objectives for 2017 were derived from these goals and were translated into departmental and individual workplans 
that would be subjected to periodic reviews to maintain implementation momentum or revisions where necessary.  
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INFORMATION & COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY
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The Department’s commitment to innovation, automation and research continues to steer its success.  
The Department’s main purpose is to enhance business processes for operational efficiency and 
communication. To the general public, the Corporation’s stable ICT systems and platforms translate to 
adequate protection of their deposits, prompt deposit compensation and provision of timely information. 
The ICT function maintained stable systems and platforms throughout the year under review.

• 2016 ICT Activities
As part of the Corporation’s ongoing technological oversight, the Department engaged in various 
programs and tasks to keep pace with technology trends as well as continuing to prioritize in-house 
systems development which will be subjected to external expert reviews at a later stage. Notably, the 
organization successfully completed the development of the Liquidation System. The system will go 
through testing and validation during the coming year. The Liquidation System complements the Payout 
(Claims Processing) System as it automates the traditional liquidation tasks of failed banks such as 
asset recoveries and dividend payouts amongst many others. The successful completion of the system 
brings the number of in-house developed systems to three after the Risk Analysis and the Payout (Claims 
Processing) Systems. In-house system development eliminates outsourcing and licensing costs.  

• Service Delivery
The ICT infrastructure remained robust during the year. Outmoded ICT equipment which included laptops, 
printers, PABX and projectors amongst others were replaced by modern and compatible equipment. 

• ICT Environment 
The Zimbabwean market has probably reached internet saturation point with no further internet penetration 
according to POTRAZ 2016 Report. Further, POTRAZ has also stated that the use of WhatsApp calling 
and Voice Over Internet Protocol (VOIP) was now preferable to traditional fixed lines. With most Internet 
Service Providers offering fibre to home services, the competition in the telecommunication industry has 
resulted in affordable internet rates. The Mobile Network Operators continue to engage in promotional 
activities that tend to lower costs of communication. The Corporation will take advantage of falling costs 
to raise its public awareness activities.

ICT Cybersecurity remains a global threat to organisations and users worldwide. The value of intellectual 
property and customer records has raised the appetite for hackers who now make money from ransomware 
and other cyber-attacks. Banks, insurance companies and healthcare facilities amongst others remain 
the major targets for such exploits. According to Certes Network USA (2017), the average cost of data 
breach in USA was about $7.1 million in 2016 and it is expected to worsen in future unless urgent 
security measures are taken in a coordinated fashion. Established organisations such as Sony, eBay, 
Ashley Madison and Yahoo among many others have experienced data breaches exposing sensitive data 
such as credit card details and personal information to theft. The Corporation will continue to maintain 
and monitor tight cyber security controls which have become an imperative more than ever before. It is 
planned to conduct ICT security assessments in 2017 in addition to the periodic internal and external 
audit reviews.

With the opening of the Bulawayo office, the ICT Department will install a seamless link between Harare 
and Bulawayo branches during 2017. The Department will also equip the new offices with adequate office 
automation appliances and infrastructure for the convenience of the Corporation’s users and clients.
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FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT

Financial reporting

The Corporation strives to achieve high class financial reporting to meet relevant information requirements 
for all users. The core accounting system that was upgraded in 2015 proved to be sufficiently robust to 
meet the accounting needs for a growing organisation.

Investment of Surplus Funds 

Over the years, surplus funds have been invested in secure and liquid money market instruments whose 
returns are relatively modest. During the year under review investment diversification initiatives were 
embarked upon and covered placements in bond instruments guaranteed by the government. The bonds 
have relatively higher returns and are also secure. The objective is to create a truly diversified investment 
portfolio that will also include quasi equities going forward.
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DEPOSIT PROTECTION CORPORATION
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the year ended 31 December 2016

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR FINANCIAL REPORTING
The directors are required in terms of the Deposit Protection Corporation Act (Chapter 24:29) to maintain 
adequate accounting records and are responsible for the content and integrity of the financial statements 
and related financial information included in this report. It is their responsibility to ensure that the financial 
statements fairly present the state of affairs of the Corporation as at the end of the financial year and 
the results of its operations and cash flows for the period then ended, in conformity with International 
Financial Reporting Standards. The external auditors are engaged to express an independent opinion on 
the financial statements.

The financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
and are based upon appropriate accounting policies consistently applied and supported by reasonable 
and prudent judgments and estimates.

The Directors acknowledge that they are ultimately responsible for the system of internal financial control 
established by the Corporation and place considerable importance on maintaining a strong control 
environment. To enable the Directors to meet these responsibilities, the Board sets standards for internal 
controls aimed at reducing the risk of error or loss in a cost-effective manner. The standards include the 
proper delegation of responsibilities within a clearly defined framework, effective accounting procedures 
and adequate segregation of duties to ensure an acceptable level of risk. These controls are monitored 
throughout the Corporation and all employees are required to maintain the highest ethical standards in 
ensuring the Corporation’s business is conducted in a manner that in all reasonable circumstances is above 
reproach. The focus of risk management in the Corporation is on identifying, assessing, managing and 
monitoring all known forms of risk across the Corporation. While operating risk cannot be fully eliminated, 
the Corporation endeavours to minimise it by ensuring that appropriate infrastructure, controls, systems 
and ethical behaviour are applied and managed within predetermined procedures and constraints.

The Directors are of the opinion, based on the information and explanations given by management that 
the system of internal control provides reasonable assurance that the financial records may be relied 
on for the preparation of the financial statements. However, any system of internal financial control 
can provide only reasonable, and not absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss. The 
Directors are satisfied that the Corporation has access to adequate resources to continue in operational 
existence for the foreseeable future.

The external auditors are responsible for independently auditing and reporting on the Corporation’s 
financial statements. The financial statements have been examined by the Corporation’s external auditors 
and their report is presented on page 47-49.

The financial statements set out on pages 51-77, which have been prepared on the going concern basis, 
were approved by the Board on ...................................................... and were signed on their behalf by:

______________________              ____________________                   ________________
J. M. Chikura                                           Dr J. Chipika                                     A. Moyo
Chief Executive Officer                        Chairperson                                     Director 
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DEPOSIT PROTECTION CORPORATION
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the year ended 31 December 2016

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The Directors submit their report for the year ended 31 December 2016 and the audited financial statements for the 
same period.

Nature of business

The Deposit Protection Corporation is governed by the Deposit Protection Act, (Chapter 24:29).  The Deposit 
Protection Corporation aims at meeting a number of objectives that include:

• Protecting small, less-financially sophisticated depositors by providing an orderly means of compensation in the 
event of a deposit-taking institution becoming insolvent;

• Enhancing public confidence and systemic stability by providing a framework for the resolution of failed banks;
• Enhancing competition in the financial sector by mitigating some of the competitive barriers in the deposit-taking 

industry; and,
• Helping in defining the boundaries of the Government exposure and support in protecting depositors when a 

bank or the Corporation of banks fails in normal times. 

Directorate

There were changes in the composition of the Corporation’s Board. 

Auditors

The auditors, Messrs. Baker Tilly were appointed by the Auditor General for the 2016 audit.

By order of the Board
V. Vuma

_____________________________
Corporate Secretary/Legal Counsel
Harare, Zimbabwe
27 September 2017
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REPORT OF THE INDEPENDENT AUDITORS TO THE MEMBERS OF DEPOSIT PROTECTION 
CORPORATION

Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of Deposit Protection Corporation, which comprise the statement of financial 
position as at 31 December 2016 and the statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in funds and 
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of 
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the Financial Statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Deposit 
Protection Corporation as at 31 December 2016, and its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended 
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Deposit Protection Act.

Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section 
of our report. We are independent of Deposit Protection Corporation in accordance with the International Ethics 
Standards Board for Accountants (IESBA Code) together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our 
audit of financial statements in Zimbabwe and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities under these ethical 
requirements and IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the 
financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial 
statements, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

We have determined the matters described below to be key audit matters to be communicated in our report.
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KEY AUDIT MATTER OUR AUDIT RESPONSE

Provision for protection payments

The determination of the provision for protection pay-
ments represents the present value of the Directors’ 
best estimate of the future cash flows that will be re-
quired under the Corporation’s obligations as set out 
in the Deposit Protection Corporation Act. 

The estimate of the exposure is based on the value of 
deposits and the number of depositors of distressed 
institutions at the end of the year. The provision was 
based on the value of deposits and number of depos-
itors of banking institutions with a CAMELS rating of 4 
and 5 except for government banks with an exposure 
of US$9 741 296 for Agribank as at 31 December 2016 
(2015: US$ 6 117 364 ZB Bank and Agribank). Such 
banks have been assessed as least likely to close due 
to the continued support from the Government of Zim-
babwe and the demonstrated financial support and 
commitment from the Government. 

Due to the judgements and estimates involved, we 
have considered the valuation of the provision for pro-
tection payments to be a key audit matter

We assessed the adequacy of the protection pay-
ments by reviewing the Directors’ judgements and es-
timates. Our audit procedures included but were not 
limited to the following: 

-We assessed whether the CAMELS model is an ap-
propriate basis for determining the distressed banks 
and therefore the basis for the provision.

-We reperformed the calculation of the provision and 
assessed the assumptions and judgements used by 
management to arrive at the amount provided for.

We found the judgements and estimates made by the 
Directors to be appropriate for the estimation of the 
provision for protection payments. We considered the 
related disclosures to be adequate and appropriate. 
(Refer to Note 19 for disclosures relating to the provi-
sion for protection payments).

Provision for doubtful debts

The determination for provision for doubtful debts is 
subject to judgement and estimation.

The provision for doubtful debts is the amount esti-
mated as not recoverable in the event of bank failure. 
The estimate is based on the CAMELS rating and is 
provided for on amounts receivable from the banks 
rated 4 and 5. The provision is made up of amounts 
outstanding from the distressed banks which include 
premiums and penalty interest income which was 
charged on late payments for premiums.

Due to the judgements and estimates involved, we 
considered the valuation of the provision for doubtful 
debts to be a key audit matter.

In assessing the adequacy of provision for doubtful 
debts we reviewed the Directors’ judgements and es-
timates. Our audit procedures included but were not 
limited to the following: 

- We reperformed the calculation of the provision and 
assessed the assumptions and judgements used by 
management to arrive at the amount provided for.

We found the judgements and estimates made by the 
Directors to be appropriate for the estimation of the 
provision for doubtful debts. We considered the relat-
ed disclosures to be adequate and appropriate. (Refer 
to Note14 for disclosures relating to the provision for 
doubtful debts).
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Other information
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the Directors’ 
Report and any other information presented by the directors together with the financial statements, which 
we obtained prior to the date of this report. Other information does not include the Financial Statements 
and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the Financial Statements does not cover the other information and we do not express an 
audit opinion or any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the Financial Statements, our responsibility is to read the other information 
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the Financial 
Statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, 
based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) and for such internal control as 
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the corporation’s ability 
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using 
the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the corporation or 
cease operations or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing Deposit Protection Corporation’s financial 
reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
The objectives of our audit are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements 
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s 
report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee 
that an audit conducted in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs) will always detect 
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered 
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs), we exercise professional 
judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the planning and performance of the audit. We 
also:
• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud 

or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence 
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
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• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting 
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt on Deposit Protection Corporation’s ability to continue as 
a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention 
in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosure is 
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to 
the date of our auditor’s report. However future events and conditions may cause Deposit Protection 
Corporation to cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in 
a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with Directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the 
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify 
during our audit.

We also provide Directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may 
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated to those charged with governance, we determine those matters that 
were of most significance in the audit of financial statements of the current period and are therefore 
key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes 
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that the 
matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would 
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication. 

In our opinion, the financial statements have been drawn up so as to comply, in all material respects with 
the disclosure requirements of the relevant statutory requirements.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Pride Bhunu.

………………………………………………………
Partner: Pride Bhunu
PAAB Practising Number: 0542
Baker Tilly Chartered Accountants (Zimbabwe)
8 Fletcher Road, Mount Pleasant 
Harare

Date:………/…………/………..
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Notes 2016

US$
2015
US$

Revenue
Premium income 8 306 732 7 758 445
Investment income 7 793 145 745 553

Other income 8 961 507 498 890
Total income 10 061 384 9 002 888

Expenses
Operating expenses 9 (3 156 773) (2 923 074)
Provision for protection payments 19 (708 474) 1 472 585
Provision for doubtful debts 14 364 818 (1 681 519)
Profit on disposal of property, plant & 
equipment

- (223 078)

Finance costs 10 (284) (16 116
(Deficit)/Surplus for the year 6 560 671 7 313 205
Other comprehensive income - -

Total comprehensive (loss)/ income 
for the year

6 560 671 7 313 205

DEPOSIT PROTECTION CORPORATION
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
for the year ended 31 December 2016



Protecting Your DepositsProtecting Your Deposits

DPC Annual Report 2016

- 48 -

                                                                                                
Notes

2016
US$

               2015
US$

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, vehicles and equipment                                          

12
1 163 172         1 249 491

Current assets
Financial assets 13 21 025 446 14 575 270

Trade and other receivables 14 4 123 214 4 391 621
Cash and cash equivalents 15 260 521 86 570

------------------ ------------------
Total current assets 25 409 181 19 053 461

------------------ ------------------
Total assets 26 572 353 20 302 952
RESERVES AND LIABILITIES
Reserves
Accumulated fund 21 058 729 14 498 058
Non-distributable reserve 138 196 138 196

------------------ ------------------
Total equity 21 196 925 14 636 254

------------------ ------------------

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 18 117 533 111 069
Provision for protection payments 19 5 257 895 4 765 251
Demonetisation fund 16 - 782 910
Finance lease liability 17 - 7 468

------------------ ------------------
Total current liabilities 5 375 428 5 666 698

Total reserves and liabilities 26 572 353 20 302 952

____________________                             _________________ _________________
J. M. Chikura
Chief Executive Officer

Dr. J. Chipika
Chairperson

A. Moyo
Director
          

Harare, Zimbabwe
DEPOSIT PROTECTION CORPORATION

DEPOSIT ROTECTION  CORPORATION
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION as at 31 December 2016
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Non-
Accumulated distributable
Fund reserve Total
US$ US$ US$

Balance at 1 January 2015 7 184 853 138 196 7 323 049

Total comprehensive income for the year 7 313 205 - 7 313 205
----------------- ----------------- -----------------

Balance at 31 December 2015 14 498 058 138 196 14 636 254

Total comprehensive loss for the year 6 560 671 - 6 560 671
----------------- ----------------- -----------------

Balance at 31 December 2016 21 058 729 138 196 21 196 925
                                                     

DEPOSIT PROTECTION CORPORATION
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN ACCUMULATED FUNDS for the year ended 31 December 2016
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2016 2015
Notes US$ US$

Cash flows from operating activities

Surplus/ (Deficit) for the year 6 560 671 7 313 205
Adjustments for:
Depreciation 12 201 075 161 355
Profit on disposal of property, vehicles and equipment (3 135) -
Finance costs recognised in profit or loss 284 16 116
Accrued interest income on investments 13    (67 304) (41 945)
Protection payments provision 19         708 474 (1 472 585)
Provision for doubtful debts 14 (364 818) 223 078 

-------------- --------------
7 035 247 6 199 224

Movements in working capital:
(Increase)/ decrease in trade and other receivables 633 225 (270 245)
Decrease in trade and other payables 6 464 (80 910)

  -------------- --------------
Cash generated from operations 7 674 936       6 550 379
Interest paid (284) (16 116)
Protection payments 19 (215 830) (2 544 084)

-------------- --------------
Net cash generated by operating activities (216 114) (2 560 200)

Cash flows from investing activities
Property, vehicles and equipment additions: expansion 12 (134 787) (102 230)
Investment in financial assets 13 (6 382 872) (3 826 818)
Proceeds from disposal of property, vehicles and equipment            23 166 -
 --------------- ---------------
Net cash used in investing activities (6 494 493) (3 929 048)
Cash flows from financing activities
Repayment of borrowings (7 468) (125 686)
Net proceeds from demonetisation fund                                               16  (782 910) 782 910

------------- --------------
Net cash flows used in financing activities (790 378) 657 224
Net increase/ (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 173 951 16 045
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 86 570 70 525

------------- --------------
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 15 260 521 86 570

DEPOSIT PROTECTION CORPORATION
STATEMENT OF CASHFLOWS for the year ended 31 December 2016
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1. General information
The Deposit Protection Corporation (the ‘Corporation’) was established by the Reserve Bank of Zimbabwe on behalf 
of the Government of Zimbabwe to lessen the impact on the public when banks, building societies and other financial 
institutions become insolvent or collapse. 

The Corporation is incorporated and domiciled in Zimbabwe.

The financial statements are expressed in the United States of America dollars (“US$”).

2. Statement of compliance 
The Corporation’s financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards, (IFRS) and the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee, (IFRIC) interpretations. The 
financial statements are based on statutory records that are maintained under the historical cost convention. 

3. Basis of preparation
The financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments and liabilities 
that are stated at fair value. Significant details of the Corporation’s accounting policies are set out below and are 
consistent with those applied in the previous year, except where otherwise indicated.

The financial statements are in compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and the Deposit 
Protection Corporation Act (Chapter 24:29).

4. Critical accounting estimates and judgements
In preparing the annual financial statements in terms of IFRS, management is required to make certain estimates 
and assumptions that may materially affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial 
statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reported period and the related disclosures. 
The actual results often vary from these estimates due to the inherent uncertainty involved in making estimates and 
assumptions concerning future events. These estimates and judgments are based on historical experience, current 
and expected future economic conditions and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed 
to be reasonable under the circumstances.

As the estimates are reviewed on a regular basis, any changes to these accounting estimates are recognized in the 
period in which the estimate is revised, if it impacts on only the current period. If the revision of the estimate impacts 
on both the current and future periods, then the change in estimate is recognized in the current and future periods.

Critical accounting judgments
The following accounting policies have been identified as being particularly complex or involving subjective judgments 
or assessments:

DEPOSIT PROTECTION CORPORATION
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  for the year ended 31 December 2016
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DEPOSIT PROTECTION CORPORATION
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the year ended 31 December 2016 (continued)

4. Critical accounting estimates and judgements (continued)

4.1  Useful lives of property, plant and equipment

The Corporation’s management determines the estimated useful lives and related depreciation charges for its 
property and equipment. This estimate is based on projected product life cycle of these assets. It could change 
significantly as a result of technological innovations in response to severe industry cycles. Management will 
increase the depreciation charge where useful lives are less than previously estimated lives, or will write off or 
write down technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that have been abandoned or sold. The current year 
estimated useful lives were as follows:

Buildings                               20 - 40 years
Furniture and fittings                        10 years
Computers and office equipment             4 years
Vehicles                                                    5 years

4.2     Provision for protection payments 

The provision for protection payments represents the present value of the Directors best estimate 
of the future outflow of economic benefits that will be required under the Corporation’s obligations 
as set out in the Deposit Protection Corporation Act.  Management annually assesses the 
performance of the banks using the CAMELS rating system. The estimate of the exposure is based 
on the number of depositors of distressed institutions at the end of the year. Distressed banks on 
the Central banks watch list with a CAMELS rating of 4 and above were provided for except for a 
government bank. The bank regularly gets government support to fund agriculture.

4.3      Provision for outstanding premiums and penalties

A provision of outstanding penalty interest dating back to 2013 was made against banks under 
judicial management and liquidation. 

4.4     Recognition of subrogation fees

In terms of the DPC Act [Chapter 24:29] Section 46, the Corporation shall be subrogated up to the 
amount paid to depositors of failed banks. The timing of the refund is dependent on the availability 
of cash from disposals of failed bank(s) assets and recoveries from the failed bank(s) debtors. The 
process can be protracted. In view of this timing uncertainty, subrogated income is not accrued 
but recognized on date of receipt. During the year subrogation income was recognized on receipt 
of funds.
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4.5     Recognition of premium from troubled banks
          

The DPC Act [Chapter 24:29] Section 28 provides that all contributory institutions including those 
under judicial management and curatorship are liable to contribute to the DPC Fund.  Management 
assesses on a quarterly basis the probability of recoverability of premiums from troubled banks 
and banks under judicial management and curatorship.

DEPOSIT PROTECTION CORPORATION
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the year ended 31 December 2016 (continued)

5.  New accounting policies adopted

5.1 Accounting standards and interpretations adopted impacting the annual financial statements
 

The Corporation did not adopt any new or revised accounting standards or interpretations in 
the current year that would have had an impact on the amounts or disclosures reported in these 
financial statements. 
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5.2 New, revised and amended IFRSs mandatorily effective at the financial year beginning on   
            1 January 2016

IFRS 9 Financial 
Instruments (2014)

1 January 
2018

A finalised version of IFRS 9 which contains accounting financial 
instruments, replacing IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition 
and Measurement. The standard contains requirements in the 
following areas ‘- Classification and measurement. Financial assets 
are classified by reference to the business model within which they 
are held and their contractual cash flow characteristics. The 2014 
version of IFRS 9 includes a fair value through comprehensive 
income category for certain debt instruments. The financial liabilities 
are classified in a similar manner to under IAS 39, however there 
are differences in the requirements applying to the measurement of 
an entity’s own credit risk.
- Impairment. The 2014 version of IFRS9 introduces an ‘expected 
credit loss’ model for the measurement of the impairment of 
financial assets, so it is no longer necessary for a credit event to 
have occurred before a credit loss is recognised.
- Hedge accounting. Introduces a new hedge accounting model that 
is designed to be more closely aligned with how entities undertake 
risk management activities when hedging financial and non-financial 
risk exposures.
- Derecognition. The requirements for the derecognition of liabilities 
are carried forward from IAS 39.
-Note: Depending on the chosen approach to applying IFRS 9, the 
transition can involve one or more than one date of initial application 
for different requirements.
- Note: IFRS 9 (2014) supersedes IFRS 9 (2009) IFRS 9 (2010) and 
IFRS 9 2013, but these standards remain available for application 
if the relevant date of initial application is before 1 February 2015.
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5.  New accounting policies adopted (continied)
5.3 New, revised and amended IFRSs mandatorily effective at the financial year beginning on   
            1 January 2016 (continued)

Clarification 
of Acceptable 
Methods of 
Depreciation and 
Amortisation 
(Amendments to 
IAS 16 and IAS 38)

1 January 
2016

Amends IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment and IAS 38 Intangible Assets 
to:
-clarify that a depreciation method that is based on revenue that is generated 
by an activity that includes the use of an asset is not appropriate for plant, and 
equipment.
-introduce a rebuttable presumption that an amortisation method that is based 
on the revenue generated by an activity that includes the use of an intangible 
asset is inappropriate, which can only be overcome in limited circumstances 
where the intangible asset is expressed as a measure of the revenue, or when 
it can be demonstrated that revenue and the consumption of the economic 
benefits of the intangible asset are highly correlated.
-add guidance that expected future reductions in the selling price of an item that 
was produced using an asset could indicate the expectation of technological or 
commercial obsolescence of the asset, which, in turn, might reflect a reduction 
of the future economic benefits embodied in the asset.

Annual 
Improvements 1 July 

2016

Makes amendments to the following standards:
-IFRS 5- Adds specific guidance in IFRS 5 for cases in which an entity 
reclassifies an asset from held for sale to held for distribution or vice versa and 
cases in which held-for-distribution accounting is discontinued.
-IFRS 7- Additional guidance to clarify whether a servicing contract is continuing 
involvement in a transferred asset, and clarification on offsetting disclosures in 
condensed interim financial statements.
-IAS 9- Clarify that the high quality corporate bonds used in estimating the 
discount rate for post-employment benefits should be denominated in the 
same currency as the benefits to be paid.
-IAS 34- Clarify the meaning of ‘elsewhere in the interim report’ and require a 
cross-reference.
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DEPOSIT PROTECTION CORPORATION
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the year ended 31 December 2016 (continued)

5. New accounting policies adopted (continued)
5.3 New, revised and amended IFRSs in issue but not yet mandatorily effective at the end of the
            reporting period and not yet adopted (continued).

Disclosure 
Initiative 
(Amendments to 
IAS 1))

1 January 
2016

Amends IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements to address perceived 
impediments to preparers exercising their judgement in presenting their 
financial reports by making the following changes:   
-clarification that information should not be obscured by aggregating or by 
providing immaterial information, materiality considerations apply to all parts 
of the financial statements, and even when a standard requires a specific 
disclosure, materiality considerations do apply; 
-clarification that the list of line items to be presented in these statements can 
be disaggregated and aggregated as relevant and additional guidance on 
subtotals in these statements and clarification that an entity’s share of OCI 
of equity- accounted associates and joint ventures should be presented in 
aggregate as single line items based on whether or not it will subsequently be 
reclassified to profit or loss; 
-additional examples of possible ways of ordering the notes to clarify that 
understandability and comparability should be considered when determining 
the order of the notes and to demonstrate that the notes need not be presented 
in the order so far listed in paragraph 1.14 of IAS 1.

IFRS 15 Revenue 
from Contracts 
with Customers

1 January 
2018

IFRS 15 provides a single, principles based five-step model to be applied to all 
contracts with customers. The five steps in the model are as follows: 
1. Identify the contract with the customer.
2. Identify the performance obligations in the contract.
3. Determine the transaction price.
4. Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contracts.
5. Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance 
obligations. Guidance is provided on topics such as the point in which revenue 
is recognised accounting for variable consideration, costs of fulfilling and 
obtaining a contract and various related matters. New disclosures about 
revenue are also introduced.
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DEPOSIT PROTECTION CORPORATION
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the year ended 31 December 2016 (continued)

5. New accounting policies adopted (continued)
5.3 New, revised and amended IFRSs in issue mandatorily effective at the beginning on 1 January 2016

Investment Entities Applying 
the Consolidation Exception 
(Amendments to IFRS 10, 
IFRS 12 and IAS 28)

1 January 
2016

Amends IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements, IFRS 12 
Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities and IAS 28 Investments 
in Associates and Joint Ventures (2011) to address issues that 
have arisen in the context of applying the consolidation exception 
for investment entities by clarifying the following points:  
  
-The exemption from preparing consolidated financial statements 
for an intermediate parent entity is available to a parent entity 
that is a subsidiary of an investment entity even if the investment 
entity measures all of its subsidiaries at fair value.
-A subsidiary that provides services related to the parent’s 
investment activities should not be consolidated if the subsidiary 
itself is an investment entity.  
-When applying the equity method to an associate or a joint 
venture, a non-investment entity investor in an investment entity 
may retain the fair value measurement applied by the associate 
or joint venture to its interests in subsidiaries.  
 
-An investment entity measuring all of its subsidiaries at fair value 
provides the disclosures relating to investment entities required 
by IFRS 12.

IFRS 16 Leases 1 January 
2019

Specifies how to recognize, measure, present and disclose 
leases. The standard provides a single lease accounting model, 
requiring lessees to recognize assets and liabilities for all leases 
unless the lease term is 12 months or less or the underlying 
asset has a low value. Lessors continue to classify leases as 
operating or finance with IFRS 16s approach to lessor accounting 
substantially unchanged from its predecessor IAS 17.

The Directors of the Corporation have assessed the amendments and new standards and do not 
believe that the adoption of these will have a material impact on the financial results or disclosures of 
the Corporation.
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DEPOSIT PROTECTION CORPORATION
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the year ended 31 December 2016 (continued)

6. Significant accounting policies
             The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
            Standards.       

6.1 Property, Vehicles & Equipment

Property, vehicles and equipment are initially recognized at cost price. Property, vehicles and equipment is 
subsequently measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. Depreciation is 
provided for on the straight line method over the expected useful life of the asset. There is no depreciation provided 
for on freehold land and capital work in progress. 

Depreciation is calculated on the straight line method to allocate the cost of each asset, to their residual values over 
their estimated useful lives as follows:

            Buildings                                    20 - 40 years
 Furniture and fittings                               10 years
 Computers and office equipment                  4 years
 Vehicles                                             5 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date. An 
asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is 
greater than its estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount. These are included in 
profit or loss.

Impairment
An impairment review of property, vehicles and equipment is carried out when there is an indication that these may 
be impaired by comparing the carrying amount thereof to its recoverable amount. The Corporation’s operations as a 
whole constitute the smallest cash-generating unit.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the 
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current 
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future 
cash flows have not been adjusted
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DEPOSIT PROTECTION CORPORATION
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the year ended 31 December 2015 (continued)

6. Significant accounting policies (continued)

6.2 Revenue recognition

Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for the sale of services in the 
ordinary course of the Corporation’s activities. 

The Corporation recognises revenue when the amount of revenue can be reliably measured, it is probable 
that future economic benefits will flow to the entity and specific criteria have been met for each of the 
Corporation’s activities as described below. 

6.2.1 Premium income

Premium income is recognised in the accounting period in which it accrues. Premiums are received in 
arrears.

6.2.2 Interest income

Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion basis using the effective interest method. When a 
receivable is impaired, the Corporation reduces the carrying amount to its recoverable amount, being the 
estimated future cash flow discounted at the original effective interest rate of the instrument, and continues 
unwinding the discount as interest income. Interest income on impaired loans is recognized using the original 
effective interest rate.

6.2.3 Subrogation income

Subrogation income is recognised when the amount of revenue can be reliably measured, it is probable that 
future economic benefits will flow to the entity and the Corporation has an irrevocable right to receive funds 
during with considerable certainty. 

6.3 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with banks and other short term 
highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less.

6.4 Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired in the 
ordinary course of business. Trade and other payables are classified as current liabilities if payment is due 
within one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business, if longer). If not, they are presented 
as non-current liabilities.
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Trade payables are recognized initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortized cost using the 
effective interest method.

6.5 Provisions

A provision is recognised when the Corporation has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result 
of a past event for which it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the 
obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present 
obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the 
obligation. When a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, 
its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows (when the effect of the time value of money is 
material).

6.5.1 Onerous contracts
 

Present obligations arising under onerous contracts are recognised and measured as provisions. An onerous 
contract is considered to exist where the Corporation has a contract under which unavoidable costs of 
meeting the obligations under the contract exceed the economic benefits expected to be 
received from the contract.

6.6 Leases

Assets held under a finance lease arrangement are capitalised as property, plant and equipment at the 
fair value of the leased asset at inception of the lease, or if lower, at the present value of minimum lease 
payments.  The corresponding liability to the lessor is included in the statement of financial position.

Finance lease payments are apportioned between finance costs and the reduction in the lease obligation, 
using the effective interest method. 

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term, except 
where another systematic basis is more representative of the pattern in which economic benefits from leased 
assets are consumed. 

6.7 Taxation

  The Corporation is domiciled in Zimbabwe. Under   the current laws of Zimbabwe there is no income, estate, 
corporation, capital gains or other taxes payable by the Corporation. This is with exception of value added tax 
(“VAT”) and Corporation’s employees Pay As You Earn (“PAYE”) which are due and payable when applicable.

6.8 Financial instruments

A financial instrument is a contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or 
equity instrument in another entity. The Corporation’s financial instruments consist primarily of the following 
financial assets: non-current receivables, cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables; other 
current financial assets; and the following financial liabilities: borrowings, trade and other payables, and certain 
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derivative instruments.

Fair value
Where financial instruments are recognised at fair value, the instruments are measured at the amount for 
which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled, between knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s 
length transaction. Fair values have been determined as follows:

• Where market prices are available, these have been used.
• Where there are no market prices available, fair values have been determined using valuation techniques 

incorporating observable market inputs or discounting expected cash flows at market rates.
• The fair value of the trade and other receivables, cash and cash equivalents, and trade and other payables 

approximates their carrying amount due to the short maturity period of these instruments.

Effective interest method
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial 
liability and of allocating interest income or expense over the period of the instrument.  
Effectively, this method determines the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash payments or 
receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument or, if appropriate, a shorter period, to the net 
carrying amount of the financial asset or liability.

            Financial assets
The Corporation classifies financial assets into the following categories:

  
• At fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL).
• Loans and receivables.
• Held-to-maturity (HTM).
• Available-for-sale (AFS).

The classification of the financial assets is dependent on the purpose and characteristics of the particular 
financial assets and is determined at the date of initial recognition. Management reassesses the classification 
of financial assets on a bi-annual basis.

           Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL)

Financial assets are classified as at FVTPL when the asset is either held-for-trading or is a derivative 
that does not satisfy the criteria for hedge accounting or is designated at FVTPL. A financial asset is 
designated at FVTPL on initial recognition if this designation provides more useful information because:
• it eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency (i.e. an accounting 

mismatch); or
• the financial asset is part of a group of financial assets, financial liabilities or both, that is managed 

and its performance evaluated on a fair value basis in accordance with a documented risk/investment 
management strategy, and information regarding this grouping is reported internally to key management 
on this basis.

In addition, if a contract contains one or more embedded derivatives, the entire contract can be designated at FVTPL. 
Financial assets at FVTPL are recognized at fair value. Any subsequent gains or losses are recognized in profit or 
loss.
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Financial assets classified as held-for-trading comprise the foreign forward exchange contracts which are not 
designated as hedges in terms of IAS 39 – Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement.

Loans and receivables
Financial assets that are non-derivative with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market 
are classified as ‘loans and receivables’.

Loans and receivables are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. Any subsequent 
impairment is included in the determination of other net income/expenditure.

Loans, trade and other receivables, and cash and cash equivalents with short-term maturities have been classified as 
‘loans and receivables’. Loans and receivables are considered as current if their maturity is within a year, otherwise 
they are reflected in non-current assets.

Held-to-maturity (HTM)
Non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturities that the Corporation has an 
intention and ability to hold to maturity are classified as held-to-maturity.

These financial assets are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Any subsequent 
impairment, where the carrying amount falls below the recoverable amount, is included in the determination of other 
net income/expenditure.

Available-for-sale (AFS)
Other non-derivative financial assets are classified as AFS which are initially recognised at fair value. Any subsequent 
gains or losses are recognised directly in other comprehensive income, unless there is objective evidence and the 
fair value has declined below cost less accumulated impairments. On disposal or impairment of the financial asset, 
all cumulative unrecognised gains or losses, which were previously reflected in equity, are included in profit or loss 
for the period.

Impairment
Financial assets that are not held-for-trading or designated at FVTPL are assessed for objective evidence of impairment 
at the reporting date (e.g. evidence that the Corporation will not be able to collect all the amounts due according to 
the original terms of the receivable). If such evidence exists, the impairment for financial assets at amortised cost 
is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash 
flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate.

The carrying amount of these financial assets, with the exception of trade receivables, is reduced by the impairment. 
Trade receivables are reduced through an allowance account, with movements in the allowance account included in 
the determination of net income/expenditure.
 
If a decline in fair value has been recognized in equity in respect of an AFS instrument and there is objective evidence 
that the asset is impaired, then the cumulative loss recognized in equity is reversed from equity and reflected in profit 
or loss even if the financial asset has not been derecognized. An impairment loss recognized on an investment in an 
equity instrument classified as AFS is not reversed through profit or loss. However, for any other AFS instruments, if 
in a subsequent period the fair value increases and the increase can be objectively linked to an event occurring after 
the impairment loss was recognized in profit or loss, the impairment loss is reversed, with the reversal reflected in 
profit or loss.
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Classification between debt and equity
Debt and equity instruments are classified according to the substance of the contractual arrangements and the 
definitions of a financial liability and equity instrument. 

Equity instruments
An equity instrument represents a contract that evidences a residual interest in the net assets of the Corporation after 
deducting its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Corporation are recorded at the proceeds received, net of 
direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are classified as either financial liabilities at FVTPL or other financial liabilities.

Financial liabilities at FVTPL
Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL when the liability is either incurred for trading or is a derivative that does 
not satisfy the criteria for hedge accounting or is designated at FVTPL. A financial liability is designated at FVTPL on 
initial recognition if this designation provides more useful information because:
• it eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency (i.e. an accounting mismatch); 

or
• the financial liability forms part of a group of financial assets, financial liabilities or both, that is managed and 

its performance evaluated on a fair value basis in accordance with a documented risk/investment management 
strategy, and information regarding this grouping is reported internally to key management on this basis.

In addition, if a contract contains one or more embedded derivatives, the entire contract can be designated at FVTPL.
Financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognized at fair value. Any subsequent gains or losses are recognized in profit or 
loss.

Other financial liabilities
Other financial liabilities are recorded initially at the fair value of the consideration received, which is cost net of any 
issue costs associated with the borrowing. These liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using 
the effective interest method. Amortised cost is calculated taking into account any issue costs and any discount or 
premium on settlement.

Borrowings, obligations under finance leases and trade and other payables have been classified as other financial 
liabilities.  

Loan commitments
Loan commitments provided at below market interest rates are measured at initial recognition at their fair values and 
if not designated at FVTPL, are subsequently measured at the higher of:

• the amount of the obligation in terms of the contract as determined in accordance with IAS 37  (Provisions, 
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets); or

• the amount initially recognised less the cumulative amortisation recognised in accordance with IAS 18 – 
Revenue.
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6.9 Foreign currencies

The United States dollar (US$) is the functional currency of the Corporation. Foreign currency transactions 
are recorded at the spot rate of exchange on the transaction date. At the end of the period, monetary assets 
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at rates of exchange ruling at the reporting 
date. Non-monetary assets and liabilities carried at fair value are translated at the rate of exchange ruling at 
the date of determining the fair value. Non-monetary items that are denominated in foreign currencies and 
measured at historical cost are not retranslated. Foreign exchange differences arising on monetary items are 
reflected in profit or loss except in limited circumstances.

6.10 Borrowing costs
 

Borrowing costs are charged to interest paid. When borrowings are utilized to fund qualifying capital 
expenditure, such borrowing costs are capitalized in the period in which the capital expenditure and related 
borrowing costs are incurred.

6.11 Employee Benefits
 
6.11.1 Short-term employee benefits

Remuneration paid to employees in respect of services rendered during a reporting period is recognized 
as an expense in that reporting period. Accruals are made for accumulated leave and are measured at the 
amount that the Corporation expects to pay when the leave is used.

6.11.2 Termination benefits
Termination benefits are charged against income when the Corporation is demonstrably committed to 
terminating the employment of an employee before their normal retirement date.

6.11.3 Post-employment benefits

Defined contribution plans

Retirement, provident and pension fund contributions to defined contribution plans in respect of services 
rendered during a reporting period are recognised as an expense in that period.
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2016 2015
US$ US$

7. Investment income
Interest income:
Held to maturity investments 793 145 745 553

793 145 745 553
8. Other income

Interest on staff loans 21 644 12 488
Sundry income 13 932 826
Profit on disposal of assets 3 135 -
Recoveries from subrogation 802 562 354 333
Liquidation fees                                                                                                                                  120 234 131 243

961 507 498 890
9. Operating expenses

Included in profit or loss for the year are the following 
items:
Administration expenses:
- Utilities              31 225 31 335
- Cell phone charges and internet
  services

             38 646 31 837

- Other administration expenses            492 251 371 346
Staff costs (note 9.1)         2 034 272 2 012 844
Other expenses:
             - Board fees              31 535 34 120
             - Audit fees 
    Statutory audit              18 500 28 750
             - Depreciation            201 075 161 356
             - Consultancy fees              27 690 13 539
             - Foreign travel            195 087 152 975
             - Subscriptions to professional 
                organizations

             22 263 17 319

             - Repairs and maintenance                                                                                             45 527 39 997
             - Liquidation expenses 18 702 27 656

3 156773 2 923 074
9.1 Staff costs

Salaries and other short-term employee benefits      1 903 623 1 885 242
National Social Security Authority cost           19 715 20 107
Pension costs         110 934 107 495

2 034 272 2 012 844

DEPOSIT PROTECTION CORPORATION
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the year ended 31 December 2016 (continued)
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DEPOSIT PROTECTION CORPORATION
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the year ended 31 December 2016 (continued)

10. Finance costs
                                                                 2016                  2015
                                                                  US$                    US$                                                                                                  

Finance lease charges                                        284                16 116
                                    -------------           -------------
                                                  284                16 116
                                               -------------           -------------

11. Pension fund 

Contributions are made to the following funds by both employees and the Corporation:

The Deposit Protection Corporation Pension Fund. 

The pension fund to which all permanent employees and the Corporation contribute to is a defined contribution 
plan which is administered by Old Mutual Zimbabwe.  This fund is subject to the Pension and Provident Funds 
Act (Chapter 24:09). Contributions by the Corporation amount to 12% and those by employees amount to 6% of 
pensionable emoluments.

National Social Security Authority 

The Corporation and its employees contribute to the National Social Security Authority scheme. This is a social 
security scheme which was promulgated under the National Social Security Authority Act (Chapter 17:04). The 
Corporation’s obligations under the scheme are limited to specific contribution legislated from time to time.

The Corporation’s contributions to both funds were:

                                                                   2016               2015
                                                                    US$                US$
             
Pension fund                                                   110 934           107 495
National Social Security Authority             19 715               20 107
                                                           --------------         ------------
                                                               130 649           127 602



Protecting Your Deposits

DPC Annual Report 2016

- 67 -Protecting Your Deposits

Office Computer Furniture Land and
Year ended 31 
December 2016

Vehicles equipment equipment and fittings buildings Total

US$ US$ US$ US$ US$ US$
Cost at 1 January 2016 300 401 14 779 59 569                52 113                         822 628                       1 249 491
Additions   - 95 381               28 880                10 526                                  - 134 787 
Disposal (100 000) (11 088)           (10 818)              (1 058)                                 - (122 964)
Depreciation charge for 
2016                                                                                                

(100 000)                              (21 655) (33 117)              (7 743)                        (25 317)                        (201 075)

Disposal depreciation 80 001                            11 085 10 804                1 043                                   - 102 933       
Net book value 167 159                           88 502 55 318                54 881 797 311                         1 163 172

                                                                                                                                
At 31 December 2016
Cost 356 043                           129 975            182 228             114 115                          921 632                       1 703 994                   
Accumulated depreciation                    (188 884)                         (41 473)         (126 910)            (59 234)                      (124 321)                       (540 822)
Net book value 167 159                              88 502              55 318               54 881                          797 311                       1 163 172

DEPOSIT PROTECTION CORPORATION
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the year ended 31 December 2016 (continued)

There is no impairment of assets required from an assessment performed at the reporting date. 

12        PROPERTY, VEHICLES AND EQUIPMENT
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DEPOSIT PROTECTION CORPORATION
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the year ended 31 December 2015 (continued)

12        PROPERTY, VEHICLES AND EQUIPMENT (

There is no impairment of assets required from an assessment performed at the reporting date. 

Office Computer Furniture Land and
Year ended 31 
December 2015

Vehicles equipment equipment and fittings buildings Total

US$ US$ US$ US$ US$ US$
Cost at 1 January 2014 329 167 14 225 62 581 54 753 847 889   1 308 616
Additions   60 000 8 273 29 375 4 582 - 102 230
Depreciation charge                                                                                                           (88 766)    (7 719)  (32 387) (7 222) (25 261) (161 356)
Net book value   300 401         14 779 59 569  52 113 822 628 1 249 491

                                                                                                                                
At 31 December 2015
Cost 456 043 45 681 164 166 104 648 921 632 1 692 170
Accumulated depreciation  (155 642) (30 902) (104  597) (52 535) (99 004) (442 680)
Net book value 300 401 14 779 59 569 52 113 822 628 1 249 491
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DEPOSIT PROTECTION CORPORATION
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the year ended 31 December 2016 (continued)

2016 2015
US$ US$

13. Financial assets
At 1 January 14 575 270 10 706 507
Additions 6 382 872 3 826 818
Accrued interest 67 304 41 945
At 31 December 21 025 446 14 575 270

                                  
Analysis of financial assets:

Held to maturity investments carried at 
amortized cost
Equity unit trusts (i)      106 369 10 916
Gross money market funds (iii)                                                               20 919 077 14 564 354 

                 21 025 446 14 575 270
                                 

14. Trade and other receivables
2016 2015
US$ US$

Trade receivables 5 090 729 5 884 226
Other receivables 500 604 340 332
Impairment loss recognized (1 468 119) (1 832 937)

4 123 214 4 391 621

(i)   The Corporation holds unit trusts through Old Mutual in an Equity Fund. These have been
       measured at amortized cost at the reporting date.
(ii)   The Corporation holds unit trusts through Old Mutual in a Money Market Gross Fund. These have
       been measured at amortized cost at the reporting date.
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2016
US$

2015
US$

14.3 Age on impaired trade
        receivables
Less than 30 days - 41 131
Between 31 – 90 days - 41 978
Greater than 90 days 1 468 119 1 749 828

1 468 119 1 832 937
                                  

2016 2015
US$ US$

15. Cash and cash equivalents
Cash on hand 83 2 173
Cash at bank 260 438 84 397

260 521 86 570

DEPOSIT PROTECTION CORPORATION
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the year ended 31 December 2016 (continued)

14. Trade and other receivables (continued)

     2016
US$

 2015
US$

14.2 Movement in allowance for doubtful 
        debts
Balance at the beginning of the year                                                        1 832 937 1 609 859
Impairment losses recognized (364 818) 223 078
Balance at the end of the year 1 468 119 1 832 937

There was reversal of provisions of (Metbank) $539 880) and (Ecobank) $2 530 after the banks had 
cleared outstanding premiums.  Additional provisions for doubtful debts on penalty interest owed by 
troubled banks amounted to $177 592.

16. Demonetisation fund                                                                                                     

 
           

The Reserve Bank made available to the Corporation amounts to be utilised for the purpose of 
reimbursing depositors of failed banks who had Zimbabwe dollar balances in their accounts at the 
date of the introduction of multi currencies as substitute legal tender. The unused balance from 
the advance as at 30 April 2016 was returned to the Reserve Bank on 9 May 2016.

           Reserve Bank of Zimbabwe - 782 910
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DEPOSIT PROTECTION CORPORATION
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the year ended 31 December 2016 (continued)

17. Finance lease liability                                                                  

2016 2015
US$ US$

Minimum lease payments PV of minimum lease 
payments

                                                                                                                          lease payments
Not later than one year (7 468)
Not later than one year and not later than 5 years                                                                                        

-
-

Later than 5 years                                   -       -
                           -                                                                         (7 635)

Less: future finance charges                                                                        
167                                          

Present value of minimum lease payments - (7 468)

2016 2015
US$ US$

18. Trade and other payables
Leave pay provision               79 718 88 841
Other accruals 37 815 22 228

117 533 111 069
                           

2016 2015
US$ US$

19. Provision for protection payments
Opening balance 4 765 251 8 781 920
Current year reversal (19.2)                                                                                                            - (1 472 585)            
Current year provision  708 474 -
Payments (215 830) (2 544 084)
Closing balance 5 257 895 4 765 251

The carrying amount of trade and other payables approximate fair value.
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19.        Provision for protection payments (continued)

19.1  The provision for protection payments represents the present value of the Directors best estimate of the 
future outflow of economic benefits that will be required under the Corporation’s obligations as set out in the Deposit 
Protection Corporation Act. Management annually assesses the performance of the banks using the CAMELS rating 
system. The estimate of the exposure is based on the number of depositors of distressed institutions at the end of the 
year. Distressed banks on the Reserve Bank Watch List with CAMELS rating of 4 and 5 were provided for except for 
government owned banks. The provision for protection payments is based on a listing of individual depositors from 
closed banks up to a maximum of US$500 per depositor. For troubled banks that were still operating after 30 June 
2016, the provision is based on a cover level of $1 000. 

19.2  The reversal pertains to the reduction in insurable deposits in distressed institutions.

20.        Related party transactions 

DEPOSIT PROTECTION CORPORATION
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the year ended 31 December 2016 (continued)

2016
US$

                     2015
US$         

Key management compensation shown below:

Salaries and other short-term employee benefits 904 414 767 145
Defined contribution plan 46 840 46 840

951 254 813 985

The Corporation has provided several of its key management personnel with short-term loans at a rate of 6%p.a. 
Further information has been set out below: 
                                                                                    2016                    2015
                                                                                                 US$                     US$
                        
Loans to key management                                                             160 061                  28 548
                              
21.  Financial instruments
 
21.1 Significant accounting policies

Details of significant accounting policies, including the recognition criteria, the basis for measurement and the basis 
on which income and expenses are recognised, in respect of each category of financial asset, financial liability and 
equity instrument are disclosed under the note in accounting policies.
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21.3 Interest rate risk
 

The Corporation is exposed to interest rate risk because the Corporation borrows funds at both fixed and 
floating interest rates. 

The Corporation’s exposures to interest rates on financial assets and financial liabilities are detailed in the 
liquidity risk management section of this note

 
21.4 Liquidity risk  

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Corporation will be unable to meet a financial commitment in any location 
or currency. This risk is minimized through the holding of cash balances and financial assets. In addition, 
detailed cash flow forecasts are regularly prepared and reviewed by management.  The cash needs of the 
Corporation are managed according to its requirements.
 

2016
US$

2015
US$

Financial assets

Cash and bank balances              260 521 86 570
Gross money market funds carried at amortized 
cost                                        

        20 919 077 14 564 971           

Equity Funds          106 369 10 916
Loans and receivables                              4 123 214 4 391 621 
 
Financial liabilities

Trade and other payables              117 533 111 069
Finance lease liability - 7 468
Demonetisation fund  - 782 910

21.2 Categories of financial instruments
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DEPOSIT PROTECTION CORPORATION
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the year ended 31 December 2015 (continued)

21. Financial instruments (continued)

21.4 Liquidity risk (continued)

The following table details the Corporation’s remaining contractual maturity for its financial liabilities. The 
table has been compiled based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest 
date on which the Corporation can be required to repay the liability. The cash flows include both the principal 
and interest payments. 

21  Financial instruments (continued)

21.5 Credit risk

Potential concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of short term cash investments and accounts receivable. 
Credit risk arises from the risk that a counter party may default or not meet its obligations timeously. The 
Corporation minimizes credit risk by ensuring that counterparties are banking institutions of the highest 
quality, that appropriate credit limits are in place for each counter party and that short term cash investments 
are spread amongst a number of different counterparties. Banking counterparty limits are reviewed annually 
by the Board.

Weighted 
average 

Effective 
Interest 

Rate
Less than 12

months 1 to 5 years +5 years Total
US$ US$ US$ US$

Non derivative financial 
instruments
2016
Interest bearing borrowings 18%  

Trade and other payables n/a 117 533                -              -  117 533             
Demonetisation fund n/a - - - -

                                                117 533 - - 117 533
                                                               

 
2015
Interest bearing borrowings 18% 7 468 - - 7 468
Trade and other payables n/a 111 069 - - 111 069
Demonetisation fund n/a 782 910 - - 782 910

901 447 - - 901 447
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DEPOSIT PROTECTION CORPORATION
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS For the year ended 31 December 2015 (continued)

     
The carrying amount of the financial assets represents the Corporation’s maximum exposure to credit risk 
without taking into consideration any collateral provided:

Maximum credit risk
                                                                                                             2016                              2015
                                                                                                              US$                                US$

Financial assets and other credit exposures
Other financial assets                                                                  21 025 446        14 575 270
Trade and other receivables                                                       4 123 214          4 391 621
Cash and cash balance                                                                        260 521               86 570
                                                                                         ----------------                  ---------------
                                                                                             25 409 181         19 053 461

                               
 22. Going concern

The Directors have assessed the ability of the Corporation to continue operating as a going concern and 
believe that the preparation of these financial statements on a going concern basis is still appropriate. 
However, the Directors believe that under the current economic environment a continuous assessment 
of the ability of the Corporation to continue to operate as a going concern will need to be performed to 
determine the continued appropriateness of the going concern assumption that has been applied in the 
preparation of these financial statements.

As at 31 December 2016, the Corporation’s current assets exceeded current liabilities by US$20 033 
753 (2015: US$13 386 763).

The Government (shareholder) injected $10 million in Treasury bills as capital to the entity in February 
2017.

In the event that the Corporation is faced with a huge payout which is in excess of available funds, 
there are three options that can be pursued individually or collectively as follows:
• In terms of the DPC Act [Chapter 24:29] Section 31, there is a provision to levy supplementary con-

tributions from all banking institutions to fund the shortfall.
• In terms of the DPC Act, Second Schedule Paragraph 7, the Corporation has an ancillary power to 

borrow moneys for the purposes of the DPC Fund.
• In a systemic crisis, that is, a situation where a number of large banks fail at the same time and the 

fund level is inadequate even after invoking (1) and (2) above, then funding will be provided by the 
Ministry of Finance and Economic Development.
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NOTES
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Deposit Protection Corporation

Evelyn House, 26 Fife Avenue
Cnr Blakiston Street, Harare, 
Zimbabwe.

Telephone      : +263 242 250900-1
Fax                  : +263 242 252 337
Email              : info@dpcorp.co.zw
Website          : www.dpcorp.co.zw

A Member of the International Association of Deposit Insurers (IADI)


